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Foreword by  

The Accountant in 
Bankruptcy 
 
 
Welcome to the 2019-20 
Annual Report and 
Accounts 
 
 
The world rather suddenly changed on us as at the end of the financial year as 
Scotland moved into lockdown and our overriding priority was to move our focus 
onto how we can play our full part in helping Scotland respond to the Covid-19 
pandemic.  
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has tested and stretched the Agency like nothing before. 
The speed with which we were able to adjust to moving all our operational teams to 
entirely home-working, and the extent to which we have delivered our service with no 
noticeable interruption for our clients and their advisers has been most impressive 
and next year we will be able to report the outcomes of these unprecedented times. 
 
All this at a time when we are still coming to terms with the radical change in our role 
in the Debt Arrangement Scheme – which will again be vital in helping people 
through the many personal financial crises the pandemic will cause. 
 
I am hugely proud of the way in which all our staff have risen to the challenge, and I 
am immensely grateful for their continued commitment and dedication. It is worth 
highlighting that 13 long serving members of our team left the Agency as part of a 
voluntary early severance scheme at the end of June, and I would pass my special 
thanks to them – not only for pressing on up until their last days in the office, but also 
for their contribution over the years. 
 
This annual report and accounts is of course that for 2019-20. Although our world 
has been dominated by the pandemic for the six months since the year end, that 
should not distract from a proper assessment of our achievements before COVID-19 
struck. As the following pages show, 2019-20 was another year of very strong 
progress for the Agency. In a year which we expected to see dominated by 
preparations for Brexit, we prepared and laid various amending statutory instruments 
in both Scottish and UK Parliaments.  
 
Key policy changes delivered this year included both radical changes to the Debt 
Arrangement Scheme, supported by a new computer system once again delivered 
on time and to budget, and further progress in our project to modernise the rules on 
corporate insolvency. 
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Further highlights include the Agency becoming fully carbon neutral, retaining gold 
status, and improving on the previous assessment of the Procurement and 
Commercial Improvement programme, retaining our Healthy Working Lives gold 
award, remaining on course to retain gold status for the Investors in People 
standard, becoming cyber essentials accredited, and an improved engagement 
score in the annual people survey. We also made good progress in renewing the 
lease of our building here in Kilwinning at a significantly reduced rent. 
 
All nine of the agency’s key performance indicators were achieved and four out of 
five of the main targets from our Environmental Policy Statement were met with only 
one narrowly missed. Details on these can be found in the performance report set 
out below. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Dr Richard Dennis 
The Accountant in Bankruptcy and Agency Chief Executive 
 
13 August 2020 
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Overview 
 
Statement by Chief Executive on performance for the period 
 
The following pages provide an overview of Accountant in Bankruptcy (AiB), its 
purpose and how the Agency performed during 2019-20 in providing statutory debt 
solutions to the people of Scotland and supporting and working with those who make 
this possible. 
 
AiB’s 2019-2020 business plan set out the activities for the second part of a two-year 
agenda of continuous improvement. This focused on the launch of the new Debt 
Arrangement Scheme (DAS) case management system (eDEN) and, subject to the 
will of Parliament, the potential for us to become responsible for a new payment 
distribution function as part of DAS Regulatory change. The plan also highlighted our 
expectation of a continued steady increase in the number of bankruptcy cases being 
managed in house, and the growing need for the Agency to develop its 
understanding of and input into corporate insolvency.  
 
2019-20 saw eDEN go live on schedule and on budget in July 2019. The Debt 
Arrangement Scheme (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2019 came into force on 
Monday 4 November 2019. The main changes were an increase in the 
administration fee and restructuring of the payments distribution function. A 
proportion of this fee is now directed into providing much needed funding to the free-
to-client advice sector. 
 
The Agency had a busy agenda of policy work and continued the post 
implementation review of the Bankruptcy and Debt Advice (Scotland) Act 2014 
reforms. Other policy work completed during the year included The Insolvency 
(Scotland) Rules (Miscellaneous Amendments) Rules which came into force in July 
2019. 
 
AiB continued its focus on cyber security, meeting the necessary standards to 
receive Cyber Essential Plus accreditation. This is vital work protecting sensitive 
information and ensuring the General Data Protection Regulations are adhered to. 
 
Substantial effort was invested in developing AiB’s stakeholder groups and networks, 
helped by tapping into the skills and experience of the non-executive directors on 
AiB’s Advisory Board. At an operational level, AiB staff have worked to help achieve 
continuous improvement and realise efficiencies in the Agency’s service delivery and 
through close partnerships with its contracted service providers. 
 
The overview that follows shows some high-level statistics on bankruptcies awarded, 
protected, and debt payment programmes approved under DAS. It details the 
external risks facing the Agency and looks at its key performance measures around 
service and environment. 
  

https://www.aib.gov.uk/sites/default/files/aib_-_2019-20_business_plan_-_web_version.pdf
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AiB’s purpose and activities 
 
AiB is an Executive Agency of the Scottish Government. The Agency operates 
independently and impartially while remaining directly accountable to Scottish 
Ministers. The Accountant in Bankruptcy (The Accountant) is an independent 
Statutory Officer and an officer of the court appointed under section 199 of the 
Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 2016. The Accountant is also Agency Chief Executive and 
Accountable Officer. 
 
The Agency is responsible for the determination of personal and entity bankruptcy 
applications, making decisions on debt payment programme applications under 
DAS, and protecting trust deeds. All bankruptcies, trust deeds and statutory debt 
payment programmes are recorded in public registers maintained by the Agency 
along with details of corporate liquidations and receiverships. 
 
 
AiB’s mission is “to ensure access to fair and just processes of debt relief and debt 
management for the people of Scotland, taking account of the rights and interests of 
those involved.” 
 
 
AiB’s mission is achieved and defined by its statutory and general functions: 
 

 delivering, with stakeholders, a range of options for individuals seeking debt 
relief and debt management 

 supervising insolvency in Scotland 

 providing statutory information by maintaining a public register of insolvencies 
and the DAS register 

 supporting ministers by developing policy 

 protecting creditors and the general public 

 achieving best value  
 

AiB also maintains a set of core organisational values where it ensures activities are: 
 

 independent 

 responsive 

 accountable 

 transparent 

 fair 

 open 
 
As an Executive Agency of the Scottish Government, AiB further ensures its 
activities are in line with the National Performance Framework.  
 
 
AiB’s alignment under the National Performance Framework 
 
The Scottish Government’s National Performance Framework is the guiding light for 
the government and its Executive Agencies. It contains 11 National Outcomes 
supported by 81 national indicators. The work carried out at AiB impacts on all 11 
outcomes and in particular on the indicator for unmanageable debt. 

http://nationalperformance.gov.scot/
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The National Outcomes: 
 

 reflect the values and aspirations of the people of Scotland 

 are aligned with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 

 help to track progress in reducing inequality 
 
These National Outcomes aim to ensure the people of Scotland: 
 

 grow up loved, safe and respected so that they realise their full potential 

 live in communities that are inclusive, empowered, resilient and safe 

 are creative and their vibrant and diverse cultures are expressed and enjoyed 
widely 

 have a globally competitive, entrepreneurial, inclusive and sustainable 
economy 

 are well educated, skilled and able to contribute to society 

 value, enjoy, protect and enhance their environment 

 have thriving and innovative businesses, with quality jobs and fair work for 
everyone 

 are healthy and active 

 respect, protect and fulfil human rights and live free from discrimination 
 
AiB’s 2020-2021 business plan details how the different components of the business 
deliver against these National Outcomes. 
 
 

AiB 2020 business strategy 
 
The AiB business strategy sets out three key strategic purposes that drive AiB’s 
business activities, delivering the corporate mission and providing a focal point for 
development of annual and longer-term plans. 
 
AiB’s three strategic purposes are: 
 
 
1. Deliver core products - We will ensure Scottish insolvency and debt 
management legislation and services address the challenges society faces today 
effectively and will provide a service for debt management and debt relief which 
remains fit for the current climate. 
 
2. Continuous improvement - We will continue a process of focused change aimed 
at increasing the effectiveness and efficiency of AiB and develop functional policies 
and processes targeted at fulfilling our mission. 
 
3. Build and maintain effective stakeholder relationships - We will work 
collaboratively across the Agency, Scottish Government, and AiB’s broad 
stakeholder base, both at home and internationally, to help best deliver the Agency’s 
core products and to achieve continuous improvement. 
 
The Agency’s 2020-21 business plan also includes objectives based around 
governance and achieving best value, and environmental and social matters.  

 

https://www.aib.gov.uk/aib-business-plan-2020-21
https://www.aib.gov.uk/sites/default/files/aib_business_strategy_2020_external_version_0.pdf
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Key issues and risks affecting the organisation 
 
Risk management 
 
AiB maintains a corporate risk register which identifies the critical internal and 
external risks with potential impacts on the Agency’s work and pinpoints the actions 
required to reduce the threat of these risks occurring or mitigate their impact should 
they materialise. The register is reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Senior 
Management Team and presented quarterly to the AiB Audit Committee and AiB 
Advisory Board for further scrutiny. 
 
Each branch also has separate risk registers for their business areas. Key risk 
management activities during the year once again related to: 
 

 sustaining stakeholder confidence through effective delivery of policy and 
procedures 

 ensuring AiB’s capacity to deliver key services and statutory functions 

 ensuring sound financial process for delivering operational duties and 
maintaining essential systems 

 making user systems fit-for-purpose and enabling high levels of cyber security 

 maintaining awareness of EU Exit proceedings and potential impacts and 
ensuring safeguards are put in place  

 
 
Trends and factors affecting the future 
 
The rest of 2020 – and probably far beyond – will continue to be extremely 
challenging. We can expect a significant increase in new case volumes as the 
economic consequences of the pandemic drive more people into a position in which 
they need the statutory debt solutions. It will be some time before we can return to a 
“more normal” way of working – and we will need to work out what that more normal 
way of working actually looks like.  
 
We will want to keep driving the policy agenda forward to do what more we can to 
help – particularly by finding a way of making the best of the temporary changes 
introduced by the emergency and expedited legislation permanent, and in 
responding to the Economy Committee of the Scottish Parliament’s report on 
Protected Trust Deeds. And we will need to help Ministers find a way of taking 
forward their overarching review of bankruptcy solutions that was halted by the 
pandemic. 
 
This means that while we will strive to deliver all that is set out in AiB’s 2020-21 
Business Plan, we will need to be agile and able to respond to whatever comes our 
way, reprioritising as we need to. So bear with us! Our response to the pandemic so 
far suggests we are in good shape to deal with what the future has in store. 
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Information risk and data protection 
 
The Agency is committed to ensuring that it fully complies with the Data Protection 
Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) which came into 
force in 2018. AiB staff complete annual training to understand how GDPR impacts 
on AiB and their responsibilities to ensure compliance with the regulations. 
 
AiB has responsibility for processing and handling personal and sensitive 
information, such as the data on individual debtors. The Agency follows Scottish 
Government policy on information security and has a Senior Information Risk Owner 
along with a Data Protection Officer and Information Asset Owners in place to 
manage risk to personal information. 
 
To best ensure AiB meets its statutory obligations under the Act and Regulations, 
AiB has developed a comprehensive data protection policy which is published on the 
Agency website. AiB’s privacy statement is also available on the webpage. 
 
The introduction of GDPR highlighted individuals’ rights to access information held 
about them, to have inaccurate information amended and to ask for personal 
information to be deleted. During 2019-20 AiB received 245 requests (2018-19 - 161 
requests) for disclosure of personal data under Schedule 2, Part 1 of the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and 24 subject access requests under Section 45 of the Data 
Protection Act 2018 – details are given in the following table: 

 
 

2019-20 
Schedule 2, Part 1: 

Requests for 
disclosure of personal 

data 

Section 45: 
Subject 
access 

requests 

Data 
incidents 

Number reported 
to Information 

Commissioner’s 
Office 

Q1 (Apr-Jun) 38 9 6 0 

Q2 (Jul-Sep) 72 5 10 0 

Q3 (Oct-Dec) 67 4 2 0 

Q4 (Jan-Mar) 68 6 3 1 

2019-20 TOTAL 245 24 21 1 

 
In 2019-20 AiB noted 21 data incidents, one of which required reporting to the 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). In April 2020 the ICO informed AiB they 
would not be taking any action over the reported quarter 4 breach. AiB recognises 
the seriousness of any breach and has since provided additional training. 
 
 
Risk of fraud, bribery or corruption 
 
All Scottish Government staff are expected to adhere to the values of the Civil 
Service Code of Conduct. This includes a requirement to declare any interests which 
may lead to a conflict on a centrally recorded human resources database.  
 
AiB has a fraud policy and fraud officer who reports at each Audit Committee 
meeting on any matters of interest or concern. All staff undergo mandatory fraud 
training when entering the organisation and staff training seminars are run 
throughout the year. During 2019-20 there were no incidents of fraud identified by 
AiB (2018-19 – no incidents).  

https://www.aib.gov.uk/guidance/information-management/data-protection
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Measuring performance 
 
Measuring performance – planning and monitoring 
 
Planning and performance management helps AiB achieve what it sets out to do by 
creating a continuous loop between planning, implementation, monitoring and 
reporting. 
 
Business objectives are developed against the Scottish Government’s National 
Performance Framework and National Outcomes. AiB’s 2020-21 business plan and 
individual branch plans set out in detail what the Agency will do to achieve its 
objectives. These plans are closely monitored with progress and performance 
reported to the Senior Management Team and Advisory Board throughout the year. 
 
The business objectives filter down through branch and team plans helping individual 
staff objectives to contribute to the Agency’s strategic aims and priorities. The 
performance of staff against individual objectives is measured through the Scottish 
Government’s performance appraisal scheme. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
The Chief Executive’s Office team reviews progress against the plans and monitors 
performance improvements. The Agency performance dashboard and quarterly 
reports illustrate how successful AiB has been in achieving its goals. This annual 
report contains an annual review of performance and progress, which promotes 
AiB’s accountability to ministers, the Scottish Parliament and the wider public.  
 
The Agency is committed to continuous improvement and ensures its audit findings 
(external audit, internal audit) and feedback from staff inform planning processes. 

http://nationalperformance.gov.scot/
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Measuring performance – performance indicators 

 
To support the efficient and effective delivery of public services and to help ensure 
best value in doing so, the Agency has set a number of targets to assess where it is 
performing well and where there are areas that need improvement. 
 
AiB’s four key performance indicators are broken into ten measures focusing on the 
time, cost and quality of the casework handling for bankruptcy, DAS and protected 
trust deeds. These are supported by additional performance measures looking at 
finance, operational and service delivery, staff engagement and wellbeing, 
sustainability, and meeting other statutory deadlines. The performance measures 
undergo regular scrutiny by senior management, the Advisory Board and the 
Agency’s Fraser Figure to help drive continuous improvement across all areas. 
 
 
Measuring performance – 2019-20 performance 
 
The table on page 13 details AiB’s performance against key measures for 2019-20. 
 
In 2019-20, AiB met all key performance processing time targets for statutory debt 
solutions. AiB has bettered its targets without detriment to the service quality 
provided through more improvements in IT and focus on stakeholder engagement. 
This year has seen AiB stride towards paperless processes with all applications and 
a high volume of statutory forms now being processed as electronic only. 
 
AiB’s key performance cost targets are measured against new cases received during 
the year but are set against the forecast of case volumes for the year. These only 
measure direct costs (those costs which AiB can reduce through efficiency). New 
cases received in 2019-20 were within AiB’s forecast parameters for bankruptcy, 
debt payment programmes and protected trust deeds, all bettering their targets. 
 
AiB conducted its last two-yearly customer satisfaction survey at the end of 2018. 
This examined the quality of telephone and written correspondence, face-to-face 
contact, and website and IT system usefulness. The survey results reported overall, 
high levels of satisfaction expressed by debtors, creditors, money advisers and 
insolvency practitioners with the services, processes and practices of AiB and their 
experiences of interacting with AIB and its staff. 
 
The overall positive engagement score of 88%, although lower than the 93% 
achieved in 2016, shows AiB continues to put the customer first in its day-to-day 
activities. The feedback from this survey resulted in a number of updates to our 
website and improvements in our social media communications. AiB will conduct its 
next customer satisfaction survey in November/December 2020. 
  

https://www.aib.gov.uk/about-aib/corporate/standards-service/aib-customer-service-commitment
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Performance indicators 
 

2019-20 

Target 

2019-20 

Outcome 

Notes Time   

1 KPI-1: Average AiB processing time to debtor application decision 
2.5 days 1.3 days 

1 KPI-1: Average AiB processing time to protect trust deed 2 days 1.4 days 

1 KPI-1: Average AiB processing time to DAS application decision 
6 days 4.4 days * 

1 KPI-2: Average total time until debtor application decision 9 days 7.3 days 

1 KPI-2: Average total time to protect trust deed 10 days 2.2 days 

1 KPI-2: Average total time to DAS application decision 35 days 30.4 days * 

2 % of invoices paid within 10 days 100% 97% 

3 % of complaints responded to within target timescale 100% 97% 

 Average time taken to determine accounts 20 days 7 days 

 Cost   

1 KPI-3: Unit cost of sequestration  £428 £406 

1 KPI-3: Unit cost of PTD £47 £42 

1 KPI-3: Unit cost of DPP under DAS £121 £113 

4 % of cases where a dividend is returned to creditors 12% 15.8% 

5 Costs recovered from fees Break even (£1.648m) 

 Efficiency savings delivered £0.096m £0.345m 

 Quality   

1 KPI-4: Customer satisfaction score (2018-19 – 88%) 88% Every 2 years 

6 Levels of carbon emissions (CO2) 126 tonnes 108 tonnes 

7 Retain Gold Investors In People accreditation Gold Gold 

7 % of staff positively engaged 62% 63% 

7 Levels of sickness absence 9.3 days 9.1 

 

Achieved target Below target 

 
Notes:  
Note 1. KPI summary - pages 31-32    

Note 2. See Finance Note 19 – page 87 

Note 3. Complaints summary – page 27 

Note 4. Bankruptcy dividends are on page 90, Appendix B 

Note 5. See finance report – page 22  

Note 6. See sustainability report – page 33 

Note 7. See AiB staff report on pages 50 to 53 for further information 

 

* DAS KPI figures are from July 2019 to March 2020 and are from the new case management system 

(eDEN) only. 
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Performance summary 
 

The number of personal insolvencies in Scotland rose for the fourth consecutive 
financial year, but it remains below levels seen in between 2008-09 and 2013-14.  
 
PTDs (up 10.5%) were the main contributor to the overall 
increase in personal insolvencies. The number of 
approved DAS debt payment programmes increased by 
23%. 
 
In 2019-20 alone, around £38m was repaid through DAS. 
Dividends from bankruptcy repaid a further £12.5m while 
almost £13.4m was paid out to creditors through dividends 
from protected trust deeds.  
 
Total Agency expenditure for the year was £13.2m. This was mainly funded by 
income of £11.6m generated from fees and charges. The remaining £1.6m net 
expenditure was covered from the Scottish Government budget allocation. 
 
On the policy front the Draft Scottish Statutory Instrument (SSI) for the Debt 
Arrangement Scheme (Scotland) Regulations 2019 passed the parliamentary 
process on 25 September 2019. The Insolvency (Scotland) Rules (Miscellaneous 
Amendments) Rules 2019 came into force on 23 July 2019. The Agency continued 
the post implementation review of the Bankruptcy and Debt Advice (Scotland) Act 
2014 reforms. A further consultation was published between November 2019 and 
February 2020. Most recently AiB supported Ministers in developing and delivering 
changes to policy in response to the pandemic in the first two Coronavirus (Scotland) 
Bills, and in contributing to the UK’s Corporate Insolvency and Governance Act. 
 
AiB underwent the Procurement & Commercial 
Improvement Programme assessment retaining its 
gold status while improving on the previous 
assessment. An action plan was put in place to help 
target further improvement.  
 
In March 2020 AiB was on track to retain the Investors in People Gold standard, due 
to complete in March 2021. In December 2019, the Agency was awarded its sixth 
successive gold award from the Scottish Healthy Working Lives Award Programme. 
 
During the year, AiB has impacted globally through continued participation in the 
International Association of Insolvency Regulators (IAIR). The chief executive joins 
regular conference calls with world members and attended the IAIR annual 
conference in Belfast with two other AiB representatives. IAIR also send 
representation to the United Nations Commission On International Trade Law 
(UNCITRAL) events. 
 
AiB achieved all nine of its key performance indicators measured in 2019-20. The 
measures continue to help refine and drive positive change to AiB’s internal and 
external facing processes. A tenth key performance indicator on customer 
satisfaction, last conducted in December 2018, is assessed every second year. 
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AiB measures five main targets from its Environmental Policy Statement. In 2019-20 
the Agency succeeded in achieving four annual targets, narrowly missing the fifth. 
Details of AiB’s sustainability progress can be viewed on page 33. 
 
 

Performance analysis 

 
Measuring performance – Business objectives  
 
The Agency’s primary strategic purpose is to ensure the efficient and effective 
delivery of Scotland’s statutory debt relief and debt management options – both 
those cases we manage ourselves, and those for which our role is a supervisory and 
regulatory one. AiB aims to ensure Scottish insolvency and debt management 
legislation and solutions effectively address the challenges society faces today.  
 
This means the Agency has to embrace a culture of 
continuous improvement – AiB’s second strategic 
purpose, and one where effective stakeholder 
relationships are built and maintained – AiB’s third 
strategic purpose.  
 
The caseload AiB manages is illustrated by the fact that at all times during the year, 
there were between 48,000 and 52,500 live cases comprising bankruptcies, 
protected trust deeds and debt payment programmes under DAS. All protected trust 
deeds (PTDs) are administered by insolvency practitioners, as are some 
bankruptcies. Most full administration bankruptcies are administered on AiB’s behalf 
by private sector IP firms working under contract. Debt Payment Programmes under 
DAS are jointly administered. Only Minimum Asset Process (MAP) cases and in 
house bankruptcies are fully administered by AiB. 
 
In support of AiB’s mission to ensure access to fair and just processes of debt relief 
and debt management for the people of Scotland, AiB’s 2019-20 business plan set 
five objectives and a range of activities for the business to deliver or commence 
during the reporting year. These were developed through engagement with internal 
and external stakeholders, from seeking opportunity to address key corporate risks, 
and through supporting wider Scottish Government priorities.  
 
A major area of work for AiB is to ensure its web based 
applications remain fit-for-purpose for delivering the 
statutory debt relief and debt management products, 
including protecting these and related personal data from 
cyber-attack, and that the legislation underpinning these 
products remains fit for the current climate. 
 
 
Introducing a new case management system 
 
Preparing to replace the dated Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) case management 
system (DASH) was one of the key objectives set in AiB’s 2017-18 Business Plan, 
and has been a major part of the Agency’s improvement agenda since then. This 
year saw the project come to completion. 
 

https://www.aib.gov.uk/guidance/publications/corporate/corporate-plan


PART 1 THE PERFORMANCE REPORT 

 

ACCOUNTANT IN BANKRUPTCY - ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019-20 PAGE 16 OF 125 

 

 
1 July 2019 saw the launch of eDEN, the new DAS case management system. This 
step forward in technology offers greater functionality, accessibility and resilience to 
better support the needs of users. 
 
This was just part of a significant year of work around DAS. The Debt 
Arrangement Scheme: Returning Funds to the Free Advice Sector 
consultation paper was completed with a further consultation launched 
from May to August 2019. The paper sought feedback on options 
identified to expedite the allocation of funds generated from the payments 
distribution process to the free advice sector. 
 
The consultation response went through a Parliamentary Committee process which 
generated strong debate from across the sector and led to the formation of a 
Ministerial round table encouraging positive and open discussion on debt solutions.  
 
The Debt Arrangement Scheme (Scotland) Regulations 2019 came into force on 
Monday 4 November 2019 with eDEN updated to reflect the changes. This 
introduced key changes to the payments distribution function and enabled AiB to act 
as a payments distributer of last resort where nominated.  
 
To help stakeholders better understand the new changes, AiB delivered training 
sessions in Glasgow and Edinburgh to update those directly involved with DAS, 
allowing them to view system updates, talk through processes and address any 
concerns. 
 
The launch of eDEN hasn’t gone without its challenges and AiB staff have worked 
tirelessly to ensure business continuity for stakeholders and clients alike. We 
continue to work with all stakeholder groups, internal and external, to continue 
improving the DAS experience for all. 
 
The payments distribution process is still being refined and further functionality to 
help expedite key tasks will be developed throughout 2020. 
 
 
Delivering the core business 
 
In 2019-20 AiB has also delivered significant improvement to its other case 
management systems. 
 
The next step in our move to a paperless office came in November 
2019, when following work with PTD trustees to enhance the 
ASTRA (trust deed) system, all statutory forms for trust deeds are 
now received electronically, greatly reducing the need for manual 
data input by our staff.  
 
Similarly, some bankruptcy processes on the BASYS bankruptcy system moved on-
line as we head towards “digital by default”, including all bankruptcy accounts now 
being submitted electronically. All these changes have helped both improve process 
efficiency and reduce our environmental footprint. 
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Another very significant project reached a major milestone this year as the 
modernised Scottish corporate insolvency rules came into force in April 2019 
consolidating the existing Insolvency (Scotland) Rules 1986 and modernising and 
updating the Rules to align them with corporate changes already made in England 
and Wales. The last stage of the project – the application of the new rules to Limited 
Liability Partnerships – will hopefully be finished this year.  
 
AiB cannot deliver all of its business without having the appropriate support contracts 
in place to ensure specialists are carrying out key tasks across a range of processes. 
The Agency’s procurement team had a particularly busy year conducting invitations 
to tender and resultant evaluation processes. Work commenced in some areas and 
various contracts and frameworks were awarded or extended.  
 
These included: 
 

 a new Legal Services contracts was awarded to Harper MacLeod LLP with 
Anderson Strathern as reserve supplier 

 a new collaborative Sheriff Officer Framework was awarded to Stirling Park 
LLP by AiB covering the work of four Agencies - AiB, Student Awards Agency 
Scotland (SAAS), Social Security Scotland and Revenue Scotland 

 the final available extension period of the Insolvency Services framework was 
agreed with Wylie & Bisset and Dunedin Advisory. The framework is expected 
to conclude on 30 June 2021 

 the Multi-Functioning Device invitation to tender was issued using the Scottish 
Government Office Equipment collaborative framework. A contract was 
awarded to Capital Document Solutions 

 work commencing on an exercise to award a new Chartered Surveyor 
contract 

 a new contract for penetration testing was awarded using the Crown 
Commercial Services (CCS) G-Cloud framework 

 the team working with colleagues across the Agency to specify and procure 
various furniture, IT and audio visual equipment as part of the conference 
room upgrade project 

 
The successful delivery of the above work was recognised through once more 
achieving gold status in the Procurement and Commercial Improvement Programme 
(PCIP) following an extensive assessment process. The PCIP focuses on the 
policies and procedures driving procurement performance and more importantly, the 
results they can deliver. An action plan is now in place to help target further 
improvement. 
 
AiB has a contract management team in place to support the various contracts to 

ensure they have the necessary tools and information along with ensuring fulfilment 

of terms of contract. AiB currently have 16 frameworks and contracts in place 

ranging from higher value agreements such as the Insolvency Services framework 

and Legal Services contracts to lower value agreements such as Merchant Acquiring 

and DX mail. These frameworks and contracts have an estimated value of 

approximately £17 million. AiB also use various SG frameworks for goods and 

services such as stationary, media services, facilities management and IT 

equipment. 
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Cyber security and data protection 
 
In 2019-20 AiB continued to meet the necessary standards to receive certification in 

Cyber Essentials Plus. In addition, AiB carried out two penetration test exercises; the 

first, in August, assessed AiB’s full IT suite and the second was a specific exercise 

carried out prior to the release of the new eDEN case management system.  

 

A further penetration test due to take place in March 2020 was unable to go ahead 

due to the impact of coronavirus on the Scottish Government (SG) network.  

 

In January 2020 AiB’s Efficiencies & Technology team met with the SG Head of 

Public Sector Cyber Resilience to discuss the upcoming release of a cyber security 

toolkit and how AiB can move towards Her Majesty’s Government standards in cyber 

resilience. AiB have developed a two year plan to carry out the required work.  

 

The two major cyber risks affecting AiB are through phishing attacks 

and password security weaknesses. An internal phishing exercise 

was carried out in February to assess staff’s ability to recognise a 

potential threat. These exercises will be repeated and training 

packages are being developed to support staff. Similarly a password 

management policy document is being updated and the release of 

the policy will be supported with staff training and awareness articles.  

 

A cyber resilience report has been developed and will be presented quarterly to 

AiB’s Senior Management Team, reporting progress made against the plan, any 

emerging issues from penetration tests or internal exercises and to ensure they are 

made aware of any newly emerging threats. 

 

 
AiB voluntary exit scheme 
 
In 2019-20 AiB launched a scheme offering staff the opportunity to leave the Agency 
and ultimately the Scottish Government early on voluntary exit terms. The scheme 
was launched as AiB recognised the growing efficiencies of continuous IT 
development. At the end of March 2020, 13 staff had agreed terms and all finished 
work before the end of June 2020.  
 
Staff leaving took with them a wealth of knowledge and experience and AiB will miss 
the dedication and commitment they have each shown over the years. The loss of 
these staff and the uncertainties as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic mean that 
during 2020-21 the Agency will continue evaluating its organisational structure and 
will focus resource in the areas most needed.  
 
 
Continuous improvement 
 
During the year the Agency upgraded the IT in the office conference rooms to allow 
more effective use of technologies in communicating with our stakeholders and for 
delivering training. This will allow documents to be shared electronically  and will also 
contribute to a reduction in unnecessary business travel and the carbon footprint of 
both AiB and its stakeholders. 
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AiB continued its IT asset replacement programme. All staff have been issued 
laptops with more powerful processing capability to handle the overall increase in 
digital systems and processes. This was a vital resource when dealing with the move 
to home working during the Covid-19 pandemic and enabled AiB staff to continue 
delivering essential services under the challenging circumstances. 
 
AiB also committed to developing the in-house case management and supervisory 
capability, supported by improved IT functionality. This helps AiB to support its 
insolvency services contract providers and provides stability to the processes at a 
time of uncertainty when case volumes could see a dramatic 
increase.  
 
2019-20 saw big steps to improvements in how the Agency 
governs the business. From April 2019 AiB adopted the new 
Scottish Government risk management approach enabling 
additional control over those risks that could impact the 
organisation, alongside the introduction of a new complaints 
procedure which helps ensure better consistency of process.  
 
During the year the Agency developed an assurance mapping process which, once 
applied, will provide added confidence in AiB’s effective and appropriate use of 
public money and resource. 
 
 
Stakeholder engagement 
 
Stakeholder engagement is AiB’s second strategic purpose of the Agency and is vital 
to ensuring delivery of the best service benefitting the right people. 
 
The financial year once more began with AiB’s annual stakeholder events held in 
Aberdeen, Dundee, Glasgow and Edinburgh. These popular and well-attended 
events allowed AiB to share progress on IT development and raise awareness of 
policy or process changes, and importantly, let its external stakeholders raise any 
concerns or suggestions for improvement that could be addressed in the Agency’s 
daily operational processes. 
 
The Agency’s executive directors continued their involvement in the International 
Association of Insolvency Practitioners, and built on relations with the World Bank 
and UNCITRAL, continuing to forge relationships for development discussion and 
sharing of best practice. 
 
In 2019-20 the Agency received a highly positive report on the first part of the 
Investors in People programme Gold award reassessment, testament to the 
environment AiB staff work in. 
 
AiB’s Organisational Development and Learning Team continued to lead on 
development action based upon staff feedback and engagement scores identified 
through the annual AiB staff survey. 
 
And importantly, the Agency continued to focus on staff development with AiB 
continuing to welcome fresh talent through Modern Apprenticeship and Developing 
Young Workers programmes.  
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These programmes have been delayed in 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic but 
will remain high priority when business returns to normal. 
 
 
Policy development and delivery 
 
The Draft SSI for the Debt Arrangement Scheme (Scotland) Regulations 2019 was 
laid, with supporting documents, in the Scottish Parliament on 7 June 2019 and 
passed the parliamentary process on 25 September 2019 after three evidence 
hearings at Committee stage. 
 
Following on from the Committee stage the Minister for Business, Fair Work and 
Skills committed to undertake a wider review of the insolvency products including 
bankruptcy, PTDs and DAS. It was confirmed that a general review would require 
regular interaction with stakeholders including a public consultation. A working group 
was set up combining stakeholders from the public and private money advice sector 
alongside representatives from the creditor sector. 
 
The Agency continued the post implementation review of the Bankruptcy and Debt 
Advice (Scotland) Act 2014 reforms. A further consultation was published between 
November 2019 and February 2020.  
 
Other policy work completed during the year included The Insolvency (Scotland) 
Rules (Miscellaneous Amendments) Rules 2019 which were laid in the UK 
Parliament on 1 July 2019 and came into force on 23 July 2019. This made minor 
amendments to the modernised Rules, providing clarity on the savings and 
transitional provisions with regard to progress reporting and the ability to conclude a 
members’ voluntary liquidation and for the liquidator to vacate office early. 
 
AiB continued delivering the extensive work plan created following the completion of 
the 2017-18 diligence review. Three meetings of the Diligence Working Group were 
held during 2019-20 with agenda items including inhibition, exceptional attachment, 
money attachment, adjudication for debt, bank arrestment and summary warrant all 
discussed along with outstanding areas where there was no clear consensus. Work 
started to update the draft report of recommendations following the feedback from 
the group and consideration is being given to whether a further meeting is required 
to finalise the report. 
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has put a temporary halt to much of the good progress 
made across various policy areas as AiB’s policy team were drafted in to support the 
Scottish Government’s Coronavirus response. At the same time, AiB supported 
Ministers in developing and delivering changes to policy in response to the pandemic 
in the first two Coronavirus (Scotland) Bills, and in contributing to the UK’s Corporate 
Insolvency and Governance Act. More details on these will be in next year’s report. 
 
 
Brexit 
 
The implications of exiting the EU on insolvency proceedings have been subject to 
on-going consideration and collaborative work between both the Scottish and UK 
Governments.  
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This has been necessary as the arrangements for corporate insolvency are very 
complex (in devolution terms) with certain areas devolved, some fully reserved other 
measures spanning devolved and reserved competence.  
 
The legislative preparations for EU Exit have required statutory instruments laid in 
both the Scottish and UK Parliaments, with consent of the Scottish Parliament 
obtained through a formal notification where UK Statutory Instruments have made 
provision on devolved matters.  
 
In early 2019, legislation was laid in both the Scottish and UK Parliaments to make 
provision for a No Deal exit from the EU. These regulations primarily amended the 
EU Regulation 2015/848 as it would apply in domestic law after exit day. A modified 
version of the EU Regulation would sit alongside the UK’s own domestic rules to 
allow UK courts to continue to open insolvency proceedings where an EU individual 
or company has an establishment in the UK. The other provisions in the EU 
Regulation were repealed with effect from Exit Day. The legislation also corrected 
various deficiencies across UK insolvency legislation where such legislation reflected 
the provisions of the EU Regulation which were being repealed or amended.  
 
In late 2019, a further amending statutory instrument was laid in the UK Parliament - 
primarily to make changes to the modernised corporate insolvency rules which came 
into force on 6 April 2019 and therefore not captured by the initial legislative 
exercise. 
 
Further amending legislative provision is required during the latter part of 2020 to 
take account of the Withdrawal Agreement which has been concluded and 
implemented in domestic law by Withdrawal Agreement and European Union 
(Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020. This Act provides that the initial 2019 regulations, 
in so far as they were due to come into force on exit day, shall instead come into 
force on Implementation Period completion day and the Withdrawal Agreement itself 
contains substantive agreement on how insolvency proceedings opened before the 
end of the implementation period are to be treated. Consequently, further minor 
amendments are required to the initial 2019 regulations which provided for a No Deal 
exit. A Statutory Instrument was laid in the UK Parliament, with consent from the 
Scottish Parliament, on 30 June 2020 and a Scottish Statutory Instrument will be laid 
in the Scottish Parliament later in 2020.  
 
 
Estates strategy 
 
The Agency holds a lease for its current premises until 2025. AiB has capacity in the 
building, which is advertised on the estates section of the Scottish Government 
intranet, and the Chief Executive has been actively seeking potential co-inhabitants.  
 
The Agency is well-established in Kilwinning, having moved to its current premises in 
2006 and a high proportion of AiB’s staff are drawn from the local area.  
 
The current lease for AiB’s office in Kilwinning comes to an end in October 2020. 
Following successful negotiations with the landlord the agency has agreed Heads of 
Terms for a new lease agreement which will result in annual savings of circa £0.2 
million. The revised lease will operate until October 2035 with an option to break the 
lease in 2030.  
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Finance report 
 
The 2019-20 annual report and accounts were audited by Grant Thornton UK LLP 
who are appointed by Auditor General under Public Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act. 
 
For this period, the Agency has again received an unqualified external audit report. 
This is supported by assurances from internal audit on the Scottish Government 
corporate systems used by the Agency. 
 
These accounts were prepared under the Accounts Direction by Scottish Ministers 
detailed at Appendix A. They were prepared on a going concern basis, which means 
the Agency intends to continue its business for the foreseeable future and is able to 
do so.  
 
The Agency has considered the impact of Covid-19 on its operations, recognising 
the challenges ahead and has concluded the agency will be able to continue to 
operate. The organisation has reviewed its key risks in light of the pandemic and 
while the situation brings about some financial uncertainty this is not expected to 
impact on our ability to continue delivering our functions. We are maintaining 
dialogue with our key contractors and suppliers to ensure there will be continuity of 
services. AiB staff have adjusted to home working and there has been no disruption 
to the level of service we provide and we expect this to continue. Our different IT 
systems provide secure options to ensure that we can communicate with and 
continue to provide a valuable service to all of our stakeholders. 
 
 
Budget, resource and financial performance 
 
The cost of operating the Agency is met predominantly through income raised from 
fees and charges as set out by the Bankruptcy Fees (Scotland) Regulations 20181. 
The Agency follows guidance set out in the Scottish Public Finance Manual which 
states ‘the standard approach to setting charges for public services is full cost 
recovery’. As income levels over the past three financial years have not been 
sufficient to fully recover costs this has been supplemented by Scottish Government 
budget. 
 
Expenditure for the year of £13.2 million was funded by income of £11.6 million with 
the remaining net expenditure of £1.6 million required to be covered from the 
Scottish Government. A separate budget allocation of £0.8 million was provided by 
Scottish Government for capital expenditure and the majority of this was utilised 
during the year. 
 
For the most part our operational income and expenditure is volume driven and as a 
result of the environment that we operate in this can be volatile and difficult to 
predict. During the year the Agency provides regular forecasts to the Scottish 
Government to ensure that the allocated budget remains appropriate.  
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
1 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2018/127/made 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2018/127/made
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Agency resource budget income and expenditure over a five year period 
 

 
 

Over the past five years the agency has moved from a surplus position of £0.7 
million in 2015-16 to a net spend this year of £1.6 million. 
 
 
Employee costs 
 
Employee costs are £0.8 million higher than last year and include the costs of a 
voluntary exit scheme (VES) totalling £0.4 million. Over the past several years the 
Agency has invested heavily in its systems, creating efficiencies in our administrative 
processes and reducing the number of clerical staff required. Having accepted their 
VES offer in January 2020, a total of 13 members of staff left the Agency between 
April and June 2020. 
 
The quadrennial valuation of employer pension contribution rates increased by an 
average of 6 percentage points from 1 April 2019. Total pension costs for the year 
were £0.2 million higher than in 2018-19. Additional budget had been provided by 
Scottish Government covering around 70% of the increase with the remainder 
covered from the overall budget. Increased salary costs during the year of 
£0.1 million include a pay award of 3% for staff from 1 April 2019. The Agency also 
had slightly higher overtime, employment agency and seconded staff costs during 
the year compared to last year. 
 
 
Direct case related costs 
 
Case related costs have increased by £1.4 million since last year and reflects an 
accrual adjustment of £2.6 million in respect of fees and commissions. The 
equivalent adjustment in 2018-19 was £0.9 and so the net increase through the 
accounts is £1.7 million.  
 
 
Other Operating Costs 
 
Other operating costs have reduced by £0.6 million since 2018-19 and includes the 
impact of transferring budget and responsibility for £0.3 million of grants paid from  
 
 

2015-16

(restated)*
2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Employee costs 4,745 4,703 4,390 4,540 5,324

Direct case related costs 3,899 4,613 5,102 3,536 4,898

Other operating costs 2,232 2,138 1,721 2,069 1,496

Non-cash expenditure 864 1,200 1,598 1,371 1,496

Total Expenditure 11,740 12,654 12,811 11,516 13,214

Income (12,408) (12,250) (12,313) (10,769) (11,566)

Net operating cost (surplus) (668) 404 498 747 1,648

* 2015-15 accounts were restated in 2016-17 to reflect an error in the accrual calculation within sequestration costs
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AiB to Money Advice Scotland and Citizens Advice Scotland. Further savings of £0.3 
million in IT costs were made due to less general IT support and minor fixes. 
 
Non-cash expenditure 
 
Non-cash expenditure relates to depreciation charges on non-current assets and has 
risen due to AiB’s continued investment in developing its IT systems. 
 
 
Income 
 
Income is showing an increase of £0.8 million from 2018-19 and is a combination of 
increases and decreases across different fees. Repayments to the public purse has 
increased by £0.8 million, and includes accrued income for recovery of fees due but 
not yet paid. Income from supervising protected trust deeds has increased by £0.1 
million from last year due to increased volumes of cases in previous years. External 
trustee supervision and audit fees have reduced by £0.2 million as volumes of 
external sequestration cases fall. A further £0.1 million increase in income is a 
combination of bankruptcy application income and the Debt Administration Scheme 
administration fee. 
 
 
2019-20 resource and capital budget 
 

  
Budget  

£000 

 
Actual 
£000 

Overspend/ 
(underspend) 

£000 

Resource:    

Net Operational Expenditure 808 152 (656) 

Non-Cash (depreciation) 1,694 1,496  (198) 

Total Resource 2,502 1,648 (854) 

Capital 800   758 (42) 

Total Resource and Capital  3,302 2,406 (896) 

 
 
Resource 
 
The resource underspend of £0.9 million includes: 
 

 overspend on pay costs of £0.2 million due to voluntary exit scheme costs 
 

 overspend on operational expenditure of £0.6 million. The position includes an 
adjustment of £2.6 million for commissions earned by insolvency agents but not 
yet paid. The accrual in 2018-19 was £0.9 million therefore this position 
represents an upward adjustment of £1.7 million. Additional information on 
expected future commissions had been provided by agents when reviewing their 
caseload however this information was not available in previous years 

 

 higher than budgeted income of £1.4 million is mainly due to higher than 
expected recovery of repayments to the public purse. An accrual adjustment of 
£2.1 million for the recovery of insolvency agent commissions and fees has been 
made based on an estimated 61% recovery rate.  
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The equivalent accrual in 2018-19 was £0.8 million representing an adjustment 
through the accounts of £1.3 million.  
 

 The income position also reflects a combination of additional trust deed 
supervision, Debt Arrangement Scheme administration fees and bankruptcy 
applications (totalling £0.3 million), offset by external trustee and audit fees being 
under budget by £0.3 million. 

 

 The Agency took on a new role as payment distributor within DAS from 4 
November 2019 and the reported income includes fees ingathered in respect of 
carrying out this function. As at 31 March 2020 the accumulated fees were just 
over £4,000. 

 

 Underspends across general IT and administration budget lines of £0.2 million 
including lower IT support costs and savings on printing and postages through 
promoting our digital agenda. 
 

 
Depreciation 
 
During the year the useful life of one of our case management systems was 
extended from March 2020 to March 2023 resulting in an underspend in depreciation 
costs in the 2019-20 financial year. The remaining net book value of the asset will be 
spread over the revised useful life. 
 
 
Capital expenditure / Digital service delivery 
 
Capital expenditure for the year came in just under the budget allocation of £0.8 
million and had been used to fund the following projects:  
 
Description Amount Note on Spend 

eDEN development £589,516 
Enhanced functionality and improvements for our 
Debt Arrangement Scheme case management 
system 

Conference room 
furniture 

£13,383 Furniture for meeting and conferencing rooms 

Conference room IT £47,866 
Audio-visual equipment, IT desktops and monitors 
for meeting rooms 

Software licences £18,327 
Includes phishing software to increasing cyber 
security awareness and software for developing 
our own e-learning training packages 

Fire Alarm System £29,943 
Purchase and installation of a new fire alarm 
system 

IT equipment £31,434 
New laptops for staff and access controller for 
‘onSCOTS’ to allow staff to work flexibly across 
the building  

Total Capital Spend £758,382 
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Social media 
 
AiB’s Communications Team continues to promote headline business activities 
through Twitter to help keep our stakeholders informed. At the end of 2019-20, AiB 
had 1,112 followers on Twitter, keeping up to date with Scottish Parliament 
Committee activities, consultations, DAS and PTD newsletters and statistical 
releases amongst others. AiB Communications Team set up a bespoke Covid-19 
response page on the AiB website to highlight key contacts and changes in process 
as a result of the pandemic. The Communications Team continues to explore digital 
options for reaching stakeholders. 
 
 
Health, wellbeing and social matters 
 
In 2019-20 AiB was reaccredited with the prestigious Healthy Working Lives Gold 
status. To achieve this award a wide range of activities, campaigns and seminars 
were provided to AiB staff on different areas of overall health and wellbeing. The 
Healthy Working Lives programme is designed and delivered entirely by the staff 
themselves, and their commitment to delivering a wide variety of wellbeing activity is 
testament to continued engagement within the local community and with charities. 
 
Activities focused on healthy eating and fitness activities such as the 
nationwide ‘Paths for All’ 8-week step count challenge. Staff became 
involved in the community with volunteer work at Eglinton Country Park, 
while a number of lighter leisure activities were run for staff including 
lunchtime golf. 
 
This year AiB focused effort around emotional wellbeing and mental health of its 
staff. The HWL group supported and organised learning opportunities on mental 
health through activities including mental health first aid training, menopause café 
and mindfulness sessions along with arranging massage therapy for staff.  
 
Since the start of Covid-19, AiB and the Scottish Government have been providing a 
range of support to staff, such as increasing the number of counsellors available and 
ensuring staff have a good work/life balance when having to juggle work and home 
life, many staff having carer and/or child care responsibilities. 
 
 
Global reach 
 
AiB continues both to showcase the many strengths of Scotland’s insolvency system 
on the world stage, and identify where it can learn more from others. The Chief 
Executive continues to serve on the Executive Committee of the International 
Association of Insolvency Regulators (IAIR), including speaking at their annual 
conference and helping shape IAIR’s involvement with UNCITRAL, the World Bank 
and INSOL.  
 
Recent IAIR work has covered a wide range of issues from the right approach to 
insolvency for micro-SMEs to gender balance in the insolvency profession. AiB has 
put in place regulations to meet the immediate impact of exit from the EU, and 
continues discussions on the longer term approach necessary to safeguard 
insolvency in cross-border situations. 
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Freedom of Information and personal data requests 
 
In 2019-20, AiB received twenty-two Freedom of Information requests. All requests 
were completed within the 20 day period. One request was refused under the 
relevant sections of the Freedom of Information Scotland Act. Three additional 
reviews and one appeal were also handled. 
 

Outcome of FOI requests 2019-20 by quarter 

     Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

      

Fully released 8 4 1 4 17 

Part released  2 0 0 1 3 

Refused 1 0 0 0 1 

Information not held 0 0 0 1 1 

Released following holding letter 0 0 0 0 0 

Withdrawn 0 0 0 0 0 

Total: 11 4 1 6 22 

 Response to FOI requests 2019-20 by quarter 

     Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

Released in statutory timescale 11 4 1 6 22 

Withdrawn 0 0 0 0 0 

Reviews released 0 1 0 2 3 

Appeal 0 0 1 0 1 

Total: 11 5 2 8 26 

  
 
Complaints 
 
From April 2019 AiB commenced a revised complaints handling procedure. The new 
procedure distinguishes between six different categories of complaint: 
 
Category 1: Staff behaviour 
Category 2: The Accountant (in Bankruptcy) as the appointed trustee 
Category 3: The Accountant’s statutory supervision functions 
Category 4: AiB as the DAS Administrator 
Category 5: Matters out with AiB’s authority 
Category 6: Policy and process matters 
 
In 2019-20, AiB received four Category 1 complaints about the behaviours of AiB 
staff, none of which were upheld (2018-19: 0 complaints received). 
 
Fifteen Category 2 complaints were received in relation to a decision or action by the 
Accountant, in relation to their role as the trustee of a bankruptcy, or a decision or 
action by a provider, where the Accountant is the trustee of the bankruptcy. Three of 
these complaints were partially upheld. 
 
AIB received 34 Category 3 complaints during 2019-20. Two complaints about 
trustee behaviour were upheld with two partially upheld, while one complaint about 
an AiB review decision was partly upheld. 
 
 



PART 1 THE PERFORMANCE REPORT 

 

ACCOUNTANT IN BANKRUPTCY - ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019-20 PAGE 28 OF 125 

 

There were two Category 4 complaints about the administration of DAS, one of 
which was partially upheld. 
 
Two Category 5 complaints around the inclusion of certain debts by money advisers 
were handled by AIB, neither of which were upheld. 
 
One complaint was handled under Category 6 which related to an AiB customer 
service process. The complaint was upheld but resulted in a review and change of 
payment receipt processes to negate the risk of future issues.  
 
Overall AiB handled 54 complaints during the year which was less than half the 
number handled the previous year. Ten complaints were investigated and finalised 
within five working days under the Agency’s front line resolution process, the 
remaining 44 were investigated and finalised within the specified 20 working day 
target period. 
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Analysis of development and performance in year  
 
This section provides some key statistical information on the various debt solutions 
administered by the Agency. A full and detailed statistical analysis of all products can 
be found in Appendix B. 
 
In 2019-20, total personal insolvencies, which include 
both bankruptcies and protected trust deeds, rose by 
5.5% to 13,491. This increase was largely attributable to 
a continued rise in number of protected trust deeds.  
 
 
 
 

 
There were 4,748 bankruptcies awarded, a decrease 
of 2.6% from 4,873 the previous year. 
 
 
AiB registered 8,743 protected trust deeds compared 
to 7,915 in 2018-19 (10.5% increase). 
 
 
 

 
DAS saw 3,130 debt payment programmes approved, an increase of 23.0% 
compared to 2,544 last year.  
 
Around £38.0 million was repaid through the scheme in 2019-20. This means just 
over £275 million of debt has been repaid through DAS since 2012-13. Another 
1,622 debt payment programmes were completed in 2019-20 and just over 12,910 
people are currently in a programme. 
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The following chart shows the number of statutory debt solutions by type and 
financial year, since 2006-07: 
 

 
 
 
The number of businesses registered in Scotland entering liquidation or receivership 
dropped slightly in 2019-20 compared to the previous year, with 947 corporate 
insolvencies recorded, a 2.1% decrease from 967 recorded in 2018-19. 
 
 

 
 

 
Compulsory liquidations went up by 2.8% to 618 compared to 601 in 2018-19. 
  
There were 329 creditors‘ voluntary liquidations, a 9.4% decrease from 363 the 
previous year. 
 
In 2019-20 there were no receiverships of companies registered in Scotland 
recorded, compared with 3 in the previous year. 
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Key performance indicators 
 
AiB performs statutory functions to determine and process bankruptcy applications, 
protect and supervise trust deeds and decide on debt payment programmes under 
DAS. The Agency also has a duty to minimise the cost to the public purse for 
undertaking these activities. 

 
AiB’s key measures for 2019-20 show the Agency performing well generally, but also 
recognise some room for improvement. Performance is based upon three main 
criteria: time, cost and quality. AiB will continue to take action to improve its services 
and these KPIs will help identify key areas. 
 
Time KPI-1: measures the time taken to process applications by AiB 
 
Objective: to maximise IT and process efficiencies without detriment to service and 
to minimise the time a customer will have to wait for AiB to adjudicate on their 
application. 
 
Time KPI-2: measures the real time taken from date of application until date of 
award 
 
Objective: to work with the money advice sector to help share best practice and 
process, and to provide the debtor with a realistic expectation of time for a decision 
to be made on their application. 
 
KPI-1 and KPI-2 progress 
 
In 2019-20, and for the fourth year in succession, AiB met all processing time targets 
for bankruptcy and protected trust deeds. AiB processing time for bankruptcy was 
1.3 days (target 2.5 days) and 7.3 days to notify the applicant of the outcome (target 
9.0 days). Average protected trust deed (PTD) processing time was 1.4 days (target 
2.0 days) and 2.2 days from receipt until protection (target 10.0 days). 
 
The average processing time for DAS DPPs continued to better the target with an 
average processing time of 4.4 days for AiB process (target 6 days) and an average 
application turnaround time of 30.4 days (target 35 days). 
  
Achieving these targets was aided by the continued development of the Agency’s IT 
suite with various different upgrades completed through the working year. These 
upgrades were either planned development or resulting from feedback from staff and 
stakeholder updates on functionality and requirements of AiB’ web based systems.  
 
Move to paperless – impact on KPI-1 and KPI-2 
 
AiB no longer accepts trust deed correspondence in paper form. This has 
significantly reduced the total processing time for protected trust deeds. Since the 
lockdown period for Covid-19, AiB has also had emergency legislation passed which 
removes the need for wet signatures on documents. It is expected the use of 
electronic signatures will further improve processing times.  
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Cost KPI-3: measures the cost to administer each product 
 
Objective: To make a 3% efficiency saving against annual budget costs. The three 
Cost KPIs are designed to measure internal process efficiency and therefore include 
only those costs directly attributable to administering cases, predominantly the cost 
of operations staff.  
 
In 2019-20 all cost KPI targets were achieved for administration of bankruptcy, DPPs 
under DAS and PTDs as shown in the following table:  
 
Cost KPI 3 – Administration cost per case 
 

 Bankruptcy PTDs DAS DPPs 

2019-20 target £428 £47 £121 

2019-20 result £406 £42 £113 

 
 
The cost KPIs exclude insolvency practitioner fees and case outlays which are 
dependent on case-specific circumstances. They also exclude all office overheads, 
including systems depreciation which are fixed regardless of case volumes. 
 
Total fees to insolvency practitioners and case outlays in 2019-20 were £3.5 million, 
depreciation was £1.3 million and overheads were £3.9 million. 
 
Quality KPI-4: measures level of customer satisfaction 
 
Objective: to measure success in processes and consistency in dealing with the 
customer base - debtors, creditors and both public and private sector money 
advisers - every two years. 
 
The next survey will be conducted in December 2020. AiB commissioned an 
independent firm – Ashbrook Research and Consultancy Ltd. – to run the 2018 
customer satisfaction survey. The 88% customer satisfaction score received was 
slightly lower than the previous survey in 2016, however AiB has been able to 
identify and implement improvement actions to better the customer experience for 
stakeholders. One of these was the refresh of information on the AiB website. This is 
an ongoing challenge but the Agency strives to make sure the information is as up to 
date as possible. A second improvement was the consolidation of our Twitter feed so 
that all updates are released through a single account @AiB_updates maximising 
benefit to followers. Amongst these will be action to refresh some data held on AiB’s 
website and tailor the content to better meet user needs. 
 
All 2019-20 KPI outcomes are summarised as performance indicators on page 13. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

https://twitter.com/AiB_updates
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Sustainability 
 
AiB measures five main targets from its Environmental Policy Statement. In 2019-20 
the Agency succeeded in four of these targets, narrowly missing the target for water 
consumption.  

The Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 introduced a statutory duty to reduce 
Scotland’s greenhouse gas emissions 43% by 2020 and 80% by 2050.  

AiB has worked hard to better these targets and continues to introduce energy 
efficient IT equipment, reduce unnecessary business travel through using 
conferencing equipment, and promotes energy efficiency with lighting, water and 
paper use.  

Overall the Agency has managed to reduce its carbon emissions by over 53% since 
2010, despite travel also being included in this measure since 2014-15 and has 
reduced its energy consumption by 45% compared to 2010.  

In 2019-20 this equated to a 10% drop in carbon emissions and a 15% decrease in 
energy consumption when compared to the previous year.  

AiB has continued through 2019-20 to increase the number of electronic processes 
for our case management systems and has again reduced the amount of paper used 
in year, contributing to the long term goal of becoming a paperless office. The office 
used 6% less paper in 2019-20 compared to the previous year and has reduced this 
measure by 75% over the last 10 years. 

In 2019-20 AiB again had no waste sent to landfill. 

The Agency’s water consumption for the year increased by 8%, exceeding its target 
of maintaining consumption within +5% of the previous year. 

 

AiB’s sustainability results – 2019-20 

 

AiB carbon offsetting 

AiB has an Environment and Biodiversity Plan which details the action plan of AiB’s 
Working Environment Group and looks at how AiB can positively contribute to the 
Climate Emergency and to deliver toward Scotland’s Carbon Zero by 2045 target.  

We recognise there is a huge difference between carbon offsetting and carbon zero 
and will continue our drive to reduce our year-on-year emissions. To get the ball 
rolling AiB offset it’s 2018-19 total tonnes of (CO2) carbon emissions (carbon 
emissions plus energy consumption) by donating to two accredited schemes. 

 

 2019-20 2018-19 Change 

Carbon emissions 108 tonnes CO2 120 tonnes CO2 12 tonnes less CO2 

Energy consumption 293,623 345,000 kWh 51,377 kWh less 

Water consumption 718m3 660m3 58m3 more 

Waste to landfill 0 tonnes 0 tonnes No change 

Paper use 204 boxes 218 boxes 7 boxes less 
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The first was a donation of £1,050 to Carbon Footprint who coordinate a number 
of accredited international schemes. AiB donated to the ‘Americas portfolio’ 
to offset 150 tonnes of CO2. All projects in this portfolio are certified to either the 
Verified Carbon Standard or the Gold Standard and include energy efficiency, 
reducing deforestation and clean drinking water projects. 
 
The second was to start a silver corporate partnership with Trees for Life. AiB made 
a donation of £3,600 to plant trees in the Caledonian Forest.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
These will offset another 150 tonnes of CO2. With the partnership established, AiB 
staff and stakeholders have an option to offset their personal carbon emissions by 
donating towards AiB’s tree grove. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Dr Richard Dennis 
Accountable Officer 
 
13 August 2020 
 
 

https://treesforlife.org.uk/groves/108652/
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Corporate governance report 
 

Director’s report 
 
Introduction 
 
This report is prepared in accordance with Chapter 5 of Part 15 of the Companies 
Act 2006 and Schedule 7 of SI 2008 No 410, as interpreted by the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual 2018-19 for the public sector context. 
 
 
Performance Report 
 
The Performance Report as set out in Chapter 4A of Part 15 of the Companies Act 
2006, as interpreted by the Government Financial Reporting Manual 2018-19 for the 
public sector context, precedes this Director’s Report. 
 
 
Personal data related incidents 
 
As reported in the Governance Statement on page 41, there was one personal data 
related incident identified through 2019-20 which required to be reported to the 
Information Commissioner (there were no incidents in 2018-19). 
 
 
Chair, Chief Executive, composition of the Advisory Board and Advisory Board 
interests 
 
Management structure 
 
The Agency’s strategy and decisions are the responsibilities of the Agency Chief 
Executive. The Chief Executive is also both The Accountant and the Accountable 
Officer and receives strategic support from the AiB Advisory Board, Senior 
Management Team and a number of sub committees. AiB is an Executive Agency of 
the Scottish Government and the Chief Executive also acts as chair of the Advisory 
Board. 
 
 
The Advisory Board 
 
During 2019-20, the AiB Advisory Board was composed of two executives and five 
non-executive directors. Membership changed during the year with one member 
leaving in August 2019 and three joining between August 2019 and January 2020. 
Non-Executive Board members are appointed in an advisory capacity to bring an 
independent perspective on issues of strategy, performance, resources and 
standards of conduct within the Agency. Non-Executives are expected to act as a 
counterbalance to the Executive Board members and provide challenge where 
necessary. 
 
 



PART 2 THE ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 

 

ACCOUNTANT IN BANKRUPTCY - ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019-20 PAGE 37 OF 125 

 

 
The Advisory Board, chaired by the Chief Executive, met four times in 2019-20 and 
was supported through attendance by Senior Management Team members. The 
Senior Management Team meets monthly and features both Executive Directors 
along with heads of department from AiB’s three main business areas. 
 
 
 

The Advisory Board 

Executive Board Members 

 

Dr. Richard Dennis 

The Accountant in Bankruptcy  

& 

Chief Executive 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

John Cook 

 

Depute Accountant in Bankruptcy  

& 

Executive Director of Case Operations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Non-Executive Board Members 

 

 

Almira Delibegovic-Broome 

(from August 2019) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bryan Jackson 

 

 

 

 

 

Yvonne MacDermid (until August 

2019)  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Laurie Manson 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Laura Murphy (from January 2020) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mike Norris 

 

 

 

 

 

Christine Sinclair (from August 2019) 
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The Senior Management Team 

 

 

Head of Finance 

 

Amanda Dowse 

 
 

Head of Policy 

Development 

 

Alex Reid 

 

Head of Operational 

Policy and Compliance 

 

Graeme Perry 

 

Head of Efficiencies and 

Technology 

 
Steve McGhee 

(until June 2019) 

 
Brian Kennedy 

(from July 2019) 

 

 

 
 

AiB’s sub committees 
 
Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee met four times in 2019-20, was chaired by one of AiB’s Non-
Executive Board Members and gave the Chief Executive assurances over the 
functioning of AiB’s internal governance and finance systems. The committee is 
responsible for overseeing and reviewing the established risk and associated 
assurance processes through constructive challenge. In 2019-20, the Audit 
Committee members were Laurie Manson (chair), Yvonne MacDermid, Christine 
Sinclair, Laura Murphy and Ian Waugh (independent external committee member). 
Yvonne MacDermid’s tenure ended during the year. In August 2019 Christine 
Sinclair joined the Audit Committee with Laura Murphy becoming the fourth 
committee member in January 2020. 
 
 
Policy and Cases Committee 
 
The Policy and Cases Committee met once in 2019-20 and was chaired by one of 
AiB’s Non-Executive Board Members. The committee is responsible for providing the 
Chief Executive with advice on challenging cases and policy issues. In 2019-20, the 
Policy and Cases Committee members were Bryan Jackson (chair), Mike Norris, and 
Calum Jones of the Law Society Scotland as the independent external committee 
member. 
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Register of Interest 
 
Members of AiB’s Advisory Board and committees each complete an annual 
declaration of interests. A Register of Interests of executive and Non-Executive 
Board Members, and attendees to AiB’s committees and groups is held centrally. 
The opportunity for updates is a standing agenda item at each committee or group 
meeting. The register can be viewed on the AiB website. 

 
 
 
  

http://www.aib.gov.uk/register-interests
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The Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities 
 
 

The Accountable Officer’s responsibilities 
 
Under section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, 
the Scottish Ministers have directed AiB to prepare, for each financial year, a 
statement of accounts in the form of, and on the basis set out in, the Accounts 
Direction at Appendix A. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of AiB and of its income and 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 

 observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish Ministers, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis 

 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

 state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the financial statements 

 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis 
 
The Principal Accountable Officer of the Scottish Government has designated the 
Chief Executive as Accountable Officer of AiB. The responsibilities of the 
Accountable Officer are set out in the Memorandum to Accountable Officers issued 
by Scottish Ministers and include responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the 
public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper 
records and for safeguarding AiB’s assets. 
 
As Accountable Officer, I confirm that, as far as I am aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Agency’s auditors are unaware, and I have taken all 
steps I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish the Agency’s auditors are aware of this information. 
 
I also confirm this annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for this annual report and 
accounts and the judgements required for determining it are fair, balanced and 
understandable. 
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Governance Statement 
 
Scope of responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer of Accountant in Bankruptcy, I have responsibility for 
maintaining a sound system of risk management and internal control. This system 
supports the achievement of the Agency’s policies, aims and objectives set by the 
Scottish Ministers, while safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am 
personally responsible. 
 
In the discharge of these personal responsibilities, I ensure organisational 
compliance with the Scottish Public Finance Manual. This manual is issued by the 
Scottish Ministers to provide guidance to the Scottish Government and other relevant 
bodies on the proper handling and reporting of public funds. It sets out the relevant 
statutory, parliamentary and administrative requirements, emphasises the need for 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and promotes good practice and high 
standards of propriety. 
 
Governance framework 
 
During 2019-20, I was supported by six Non-Executive Board Members and one 
other internal Executive Director who together formed the Advisory Board.  
 
The Advisory Board, which met four times during the 2019-20 year, was supported 
by two sub committees: 
 

 the Audit Committee, which met quarterly 

 the Policy and Cases Committee, which met once 
 

In addition to the above, regular meetings were held throughout the year with the 
Agency’s Fraser Figure, who is the Director of Economic Development at the 
Scottish Government and is responsible for facilitating relations between the Agency 
and the Scottish Government. 
 
Corporate governance compliance 
 
As an Executive Agency of the Scottish Government, AiB complies fully with On 
Board: a guide for members of management advisory boards. Each of AiB’s 
committees and groups maintain terms of reference which are reviewed annually in 
line with corporate governance requirements and recommendations.  
 

Risk assessment 
 
All bodies to which the Scottish Public Finance Manual is directly applicable must 
operate a risk management strategy in accordance with relevant guidance issued by 
the Scottish Ministers. The general principles for a successful risk management 
strategy are set out in the manual. 
 
 
 
 
 

https://beta.gov.scot/publications/board-guide-members-management-advisory-boards/
https://beta.gov.scot/publications/board-guide-members-management-advisory-boards/
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The Agency maintains a corporate risk register which records internal and external 
risks and identifies the mitigating actions required to reduce the threat of these risks 
occurring and their impact. The corporate risk register is regularly updated and 
reviewed by the Senior Management Team. Each individual risk is allocated an 
owner who ensures that any mitigating action is carried out. 
 
The principal risks for the year to 31 March 2020 related to: 
 

 sustaining stakeholder confidence through effective delivery of policy and 
procedures 

 ensuring AiB’s capacity to deliver key services and statutory functions 

 ensuring sound financial process for delivering operational duties and 
maintaining essential systems 

 making user systems fit-for-purpose and enabling high levels of cyber security 

 maintaining awareness of EU Exit proceedings and potential impacts and 
ensuring safeguards put in place  

 
Risk registers were also used for specific projects as a management control tool 
to help enable successful outcomes. These provided a mechanism to report risks to 
the relevant project management board for assessment and to escalate high level 
risks to senior management should preventative action need to be taken. 
 
The Agency follows Scottish Government policy on information security and has a 
Senior Information Risk Owner and Information Asset Owners in place to manage 
information risk for each business area. One issue was identified through 2019-20 
which required reporting to the Information Commissioner (2018-19: no issues were 
identified). On 1 April 2020 the Information Commissioner’s Office informed AiB that 
they would not be taking any action over this issue.  
 
 
Risk and control framework 
 
The Agency’s risk and control mechanism is based on an on-going process designed 
to identify the principal risks to achieving the organisation’s policies, aims and 
objectives. It seeks to evaluate the nature and extent of those risks and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
 
The process accords with guidance from the Scottish Ministers provided in the 
Scottish Public Finance Manual and has been in place for the year ended 31 March 
2020 and up to the date of the approval of the annual report and accounts. 
 
I have continually reviewed the Agency’s capacity to manage risks during the course 
of the year. The Advisory Board met regularly to assess and manage the risks 
identified in the corporate risk register. The Audit Committee, chaired by an 
independent Non-Executive Board Member, has taken a lead role in ensuring the 
risk management strategy functioned adequately. 
 
More generally, the Agency is committed to a process of continuous development 
and improvement, creating systems in response to any relevant reviews and 
emerging best practice in this area.  
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In 2019-20 AiB developed an assurance mapping process which follows the three 
lines of defence model in conjunction with set criteria from the internal control 
checklists. This process due to be implemented during 2020-21 was audited by the 
Scottish Government internal auditor between January and March 2020 and 
received reasonable assurance.  
 
 
Review of effectiveness 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have had responsibility over the past year for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the risk and control framework. This review has been informed by: 
 

 the business managers within the organisation who develop and maintain the 
risk and control framework 

 

 the work of AiB’s internal auditors who submitted regular reports to the 
Agency’s Audit Committee. These reports and the annual audit assurance 
report issued in May 2020 provide an independent and objective substantial 
assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Agency’s systems of risk 
management and internal control together with recommendations for 
improvement 
 

 comments made by the Agency’s external auditors in management letters and 
other reports 

 

 assurances provided by the Audit Committee 
 

 the risk register in place for all critical elements of operations, which is 
reviewed by business managers at quarterly intervals 

 

 regular reports on the management of key project risks 
 

 information provided by the core financial systems of the Scottish Government 
which the Agency used and relied upon to carry out accounting and payment 
functions and some procurement of goods and services 

 
The risk and control framework has been designed to manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve the organisation’s policies, aims and objectives. It can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
 
Assurance on the maintenance and review of internal control systems was provided 
by each member of the Agency’s Senior Management Team who each submitted an 
annual certificate of assurance covering their areas. No significant control issues 
were identified for the 2019-20 financial year or the period up to the signing of the 
accounts and I am satisfied the overall operation of governance requirements at AiB 
is satisfactory. 
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Remuneration and staff reports 
 

Remuneration report 
 

Remuneration policy 
 
The remuneration of all the Agency’s management and employees is set by the 
Scottish Government under its standard terms and conditions of employment. 
Advisory Board remuneration and pension benefits are contained within this 
Remuneration Report. 
 
The minimum and maximum levels for each pay band are set each year by the 
Government, taking into account the recommendations of the Senior Salaries 
Review Body.  
 

Service contracts  

The Constitutional Reform and Governance Act 2010 requires Civil Service 
appointments to be made on merit on the basis of fair and open competition. The 
recruitment principles published by the Civil Service Commission specify the 
circumstances when appointments may be made otherwise. 
 
Unless otherwise stated below, the officials covered by this report hold appointments 
which are open-ended. Early termination, other than for misconduct, would result in 
the individual receiving compensation as set out in the Civil Service Compensation 
Scheme. 
 
Further information about the work of the Civil Service Commission can be found at 
www.civilservicecommission.org.uk. 
 
The following sections of this remuneration report are subject to audit. 
  

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/review-body-on-senior-salaries
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/review-body-on-senior-salaries
http://www.civilservicecommission.org.uk/
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Single total figure for remuneration (audited) 
 

 2019-20 2018-19 

 

 

 

Salary 

 

£’000 

Pension 

Benefits1 

 

£’000 

 

Total 

 

£’000 

 

Salary 

 

£’000 

Pension 

Benefits1 

 

£’000 

 

Total 

 

£’000 

Richard Dennis 

Chief Executive 
75-80 47 120-125 70-75 27 100-105 

John Cook 

Executive Director of Case 
Operations 

75-80 43 115-120 70-75 33 105-110 

Yvonne MacDermid2 

Non-Executive Board 
Member 

0-5 - - 0-5 - - 

Bryan Jackson 

Non-Executive Board 
Member 

0-5 - - 0-5 - - 

Laurie Manson 

Non-Executive Board 
Member 

0-5 - - 0-5 - - 

Mike Norris3 

Non-Executive Board 
Member 

0-5 - - 0-5 - - 

Christine Sinclair4  

Non-Executive Board 
Member 

0-5 - - - - - 

Almira Broome4  

Non-Executive Board 
Member 

0-5 - - - - - 

Laura Murphy5 

Non-Executive Board 
Member 

0-5 - - - - - 

 

 

Notes 

1. The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as (the real increase in pension 

multiplied by 20) plus (the real increase in any lump sum) less (the contributions made by the individual). 

The real increases exclude increases due to inflation or any increase or decreases due to a transfer of 

pension rights. 

2. Yvonne MacDermid left the Board in August 2019. 

3. Mike Norris was appointed to the Advisory Board in February 2017. He undertakes this role on a voluntary 

basis and does not claim any fees. 

4. Christine Sinclair and Almira Delibegovic-Broome joined the Board in August 2019. 

5. Laura Murphy joined the Advisory Board in January 2020 and did not claim any fees during the financial 

year. 
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Pension benefits 
 
 
The Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 
 
This is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits 
accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the 
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the 
scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to 
secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the 
member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the pension benefits they have 
accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that 
the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total service, not just their 
current appointment. CETVs are calculated in accordance with The Occupational 
Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 and do not 
take account of any actual or potential reduction to benefits resulting from Lifetime 
Allowance Tax which may be due when pension benefits are taken. 
 
 
The real increase in the value of the CETV 
 
This is the element of the increase in accrued pension funded by the Exchequer. It 
excludes increases due to inflation and contributions paid. It is worked out using 
common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
 
 
Table of executive pension benefits (audited) 
 

  

 

Accrued pension at 

pension age as at 

31/3/20 and related 

lump sum 

Real increase in 
pension and related 
lump sum at pension 

age 

CETV at 

31/3/20 

CETV at 

31/3/19 

Real 

increase in 

CETV 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Richard Dennis 
30-35 plus lump sum 

of 65-70 

2.5 - 5 plus lump 

sum pf 0 - 2.5 
587 528 31 

John Cook 
35-40 plus lump sum 

of 40-45 

0 – 2.5 plus lump 

sum of 0 – 2.5 
662 603 30 

 

Pensions 

Civil Service Pensions 

Pension benefits are provided through the Civil Service pension arrangements. From 
1 April 2015 a new pension scheme for civil servants was introduced – the Civil 
Servants and Others Pension Scheme or alpha, which provides benefits on a career 
average basis with a normal pension age equal to the member’s State Pension Age 
(or 65 if higher). From that date all newly appointed civil servants and the majority of 
those already in service joined alpha.  
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Prior to that date, civil servants participated in the Principal Civil Service Pension 
Scheme (PCSPS). The PCSPS has four sections: three providing benefits on a final 
salary basis (classic, premium or classic plus) with a normal pension age of 60, 
and one providing benefits on a whole career basis (nuvos) with a normal pension 
age of 65. 
  
These statutory arrangements are unfunded with the cost of benefits met by monies 
voted by Parliament each year. Pensions payable under classic, premium, classic 
plus, nuvos and alpha are increased annually in line with pensions increase 
legislation. Existing members of the PCSPS who were within 10 years of their normal 
pension age on 1 April 2012 remained in the PCSPS after 1 April 2015. Those who 
were between 10 years and 13 years and 5 months from their normal pension age 
on 1 April 2012 will switch into alpha sometime between 1 June 2015 and 1 
February 2022. All members who switch to alpha have their PCSPS benefits 
‘banked’, with those with earlier benefits in one of the final salary sections of the 
PCSPS having those benefits based on their final salary when they leave alpha. 
(The pension figures quoted for officials show pension earned in PCSPS or alpha – 
as appropriate. Where the official has benefits in both the PCSPS and alpha the 
figure quoted is the combined value of their benefits in the two schemes.)  
 
Members who joined from October 2002 could opt for either the appropriate defined 
benefit arrangement or a ‘money purchase’ stakeholder pension with an employer 
contribution (partnership pension account). The employer makes a basic 
contribution of between 8% and 14.75% (depending on the age of the member) into 
a stakeholder pension product chosen by the employee from a panel of providers. 
The employee does not have to contribute, but where they do make contributions, 
the employer will match these up to a limit of 3% of pensionable salary (in addition to 
the employer’s basic contribution). Employers also contribute a further 0.5% of 
pensionable salary to cover the cost of centrally-provided risk benefit cover (death in 
service and ill health retirement). 
 
There is now a single set of contribution rates across Civil Service Pensions, 
regardless of whether members are in classic, classic plus, premium, nuvos or 
alpha. Employee contributions are salary-related and range between 4.60% and 
8.05% of pensionable earnings.  
 
 
Pension Benefits 
 
Benefits in classic accrue at the rate of 1/80th of final pensionable earnings for each 
year of service, with an additional lump sum equivalent to 3/80th of final pensionable 
earnings. For premium, benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th of final pensionable 
earnings for each year of service. Unlike classic, there is no automatic lump sum. 
classic plus is essentially a hybrid with benefits for service before 1 October 2002 
calculated broadly as per classic and benefits for service from October 2002 worked 
out as in premium. In nuvos a member builds up a pension based on his 
pensionable earnings during their period of scheme membership. At the end of the 
scheme year (31 March) the member’s earned pension account is credited with 2.3% 
of their pensionable earnings in that scheme year and the accrued pension is 
uprated in line with Pensions Increase legislation. Benefits in alpha build up in a 
similar way to nuvos, except that the accrual rate is 2.32%.  
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In all cases, members may opt to give up (commute) pension for a lump sum up to 
the limits set by the Finance Act 2004. 
 
The accrued pension quoted is the pension the member is entitled to receive when 
they reach pension age, or immediately on ceasing to be an active member of the 
scheme if they are already at or over pension age. Pension age is 60 for members of 
classic, premium and classic plus, 65 for members of nuvos, and the higher of 65 
or State Pension Age for members of alpha. (The pension figures quoted for officials 
show pension earned in PCSPS or alpha – as appropriate. Where the official has 
benefits in both the PCSPS and alpha the figure quoted is the combined value of 
their benefits in the two schemes, but note that part of that pension may be payable 
from different ages.) 
 
Further details about the Civil Service pension arrangements can be found at the 
website www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk 
 
 
Fair pay disclosure 
 
AiB holds Living Wage Employer accreditation. This means every 
member of AiB staff earns at least the real Living Wage which is a rate 
in excess of the minimum wage. Recent independent research has 
highlighted a number of benefits of the real Living Wage to both staff 
and employers, including productivity, reduced absenteeism and better 
staff morale. 
 
The current £9.30 rate, paid to all workers aged over 18 at organisations which are 
part of the voluntary scheme, is £1.10 an hour more than the national minimum wage 
for those aged below 25 and £0.58 an hour more than the national living wage for 
those aged 25 and older. Contracted staff will also be paid the real Living Wage. 
When a contract with AiB is up for renewal or tender, it will actively encourage 
contractors to consider implementing the real Living Wage if they have not already 
done so. 
 
AiB, as part of the Scottish Government, is expected to apply the real Living Wage 
as a gross salary equivalent of at least £17,890. As at 31 March 2020 the lowest 
salary across the Scottish Government was £19,314. 
 
More information on the real Living Wage can be viewed here. 
 
 
Pay multiples (audited) 
 
In accordance with the Financial Reporting Manual, reporting bodies are required to 
disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in 
their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/
http://www.livingwage.org.uk/
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Minimum Median 
Highest 

Mid-point 
2019-20 ratio 2018-19 ratio 

 
£19,314 

 
£28,341 £82,500 2.9 2.6 

 
 
The ratio between the median salary and the mid-point of the highest salary 
increased to 2.9 in 2019-20. During the year the Scottish Government awarded a 
higher percentage increase to lower grade staff however the ratio has increased this 
year. A review of the senior civil service (SCS) pay policy has resulted in backdated 
salary and pay progression for SCS staff. The table above includes the mid-point of 
the salary range of the highest paid employee following this review. The median 
remuneration of the workforce was £27,515 in 2018-19 and the highest mid-point 
was £72,500.  
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, and 
benefits in kind. It does not include employee pension contributions and the cash 
equivalent transfer values of pensions. 
 
 
Benefits in kind  
 
The monetary value of benefits in kind covers any benefits provided by the Agency 
and treated by HM Revenue and Customs as a taxable emolument. There were no 
benefits in kind within 2019-20 (2018-19 - £nil). 
 
 
Bonuses 
 
Bonuses are based on performance levels attained and are made as part of the 
appraisal process. Bonuses relate to the performance in the year in which they 
become payable to the individual.  
 
There were no bonuses paid during 2019-20 (2018-19 - £nil). 
 
 
Trade union facility time (unaudited) 
 
Under Statutory Instrument 2017 No. 328, AiB is required to report the facility time 
used by any staff members who are trade union representatives. This information is 
also reported on the AiB website. 
 
During 2019-20, there were three relevant union officials employed at AiB. 
Cumulatively they spent less than 1% of their working hours on facility time. The 
percentage of pay bill spent on facility time was 0.03%. Total time spent on paid 
trade union activities was 37.5% of total paid facility time hours. 
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Staff reports 
 
AiB people  
 
The agency remains committed to engaging with staff and offering training and 
development opportunities across all work areas. During the year the Agency 
continued to invest in staff by providing opportunities to undertake work-related 
professional qualifications and continuous professional development.  
 
AiB participates in the annual UK Civil Service People Survey, which measures 
attitudes and opinions on topics such as workload, managerial effectiveness, 
leadership, diversity and achieving a flexible work-life-balance. The latest survey was 
conducted in October 2019 and AiB had an overall engagement index of 63%, an 
increase of one percentage point compared to the previous year.  
 
Following the annual survey, focus groups are arranged to determine what can be 
done at a branch level to improve employee engagement. The feedback from these 
groups helps to shape the Employee Engagement Action Plan and includes overall 
corporate measures as well as local branch actions. Recommendations for 
improvement from the most recent Investors in People assessment are also included 
in the action plan. 
 
In September 2019 AIB staff participated in the first of two 18 month assessments to 
determine whether the Agency will retain its Investors in People Gold status. The 
feedback from this was very positive recognising the excellent work across the 
Agency, including the opportunities we provide to modern apprentices and 
developing the young work force, and how we engage with staff through a range of 
focus groups such as the working environment group and the Healthy Working Lives 
committee. The outcome of the assessment reported that AIB is on course to retain 
gold status and the next assessment is due in March 2021. 
 
AiB's Healthy Working Lives committee promotes health and wellbeing to staff and is 
responsible for helping the Agency work towards the Healthy Working Lives Award. 
AiB shares the same vision as the Scottish Centre for Healthy Working Lives, which 
is to give everyone the opportunity to work in ways which sustain and improve their 
health and well-being. Organisations, communities and individuals can all reap the 
rewards of a healthier and safer workforce. 
 
The Healthy Working Lives Award programme supports and encourages employers 
and employees to develop health promotion and safety themes in the workplace in a 
practical, logical way that's beneficial to all. For the sixth year in a row AiB has 
retained its Healthy Working Lives Gold accreditation.  
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Staff numbers - permanent and other (audited) 
 
Total full time equivalent staff 
 
The Agency’s staffing complement over the past three years was: 
 

 Headcount Full time equivalent 

As at 31 March 2020 131               118.3 

As at 31 March 2019 137               116.7 

As at 31 March 2018 131               113.6 

 

* The 118.3 figure includes one inward loan which is paid through AiB payroll. In terms of the Scottish 

Government monitoring headcount the full time equivalent is 117.3 

 
Staff turnover for AiB permanent staff for the reporting period was 3.8% with five 
members of staff permanently leaving the Scottish Government. Five members of 
staff left the Agency for other Scottish Government departments.  
 
The Agency recruited 10 new members of staff (including contingent workers) during 
the year. This figure includes two temporary workers whose contracts were 
terminated by 31 March 2020. 
 
The average number of whole time equivalent persons employed (including senior 
management) throughout 2019-20 was as follows: 
 
Branch Senior 

management 
Other 
permanent 
staff 

Contingent 
workers and 
fixed term 
appointments 

Staff on 
inward 
secondment 

Total 
number 

2019-20 

Total 
number 

2018-19 

Case 
Operations 

2 71.8 1.6* 0 75.4 73.8 

Chief 
Executive  

1 0 0 0 1.0 1.0 

Corporate 
Services 

1 20.4 0.8* 0 22.2 24.2 

Policy and 
Compliance 

2 16.3** 0 1.4 19.7 17.7 

Total 6 108.5 2.4 1.4 118.3 116.7 

 

* short term cover by contingent worker. 
** includes one member of staff who is an inward loan 
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Staff costs (audited) 

  2019-20 2018-19 

 £’000 £’000 

Wages & salaries 3,973 3,455 

Social security costs 325 316 

Other pension costs 931 692 

Inward seconded staff 29 31 
Contingent/fixed term appointment 66 46 

 5,324 4,540 

 
Breakdown by gender (unaudited) 

 
The gender breakdown for headcount of permanent and temporary staff by grade as 
at 31 March 2020 was as follows: 

 

Payband Female Male 

Band A 27 14 

Band B 61 22 

Band C 1 4 

SCS - 1 

Other - 1 

Total 89 42 

 
 
Sickness absence (unaudited) 

 
The average working days lost have decreased during the reporting period from 10.1 
to 9.1 average working days lost. This is higher than the Scottish Government figure 
of 8.1 average working days lost. 
 
Policies in relation to disabled persons (unaudited) 
 
As an Agency of the Scottish Government, AiB follows relevant disability policy and 
adheres to requirements of The Equality Act 2010. 
 
Positive policies are in place in relation to disabled employees. Special facilities are 
provided where necessary and equal opportunities legislation fully complied with. 
 

 
* It is not mandatory for staff to declare a disability. The figures above are only where a disability has 

been informed to the Scottish Government’s Human Resources department. 70 staff state not to have 

a disability, three preferred not to disclose, and the status for 49 staff is unknown.  

 

 2019-20 2018-19 

Average number of disabled employees in year* 9 7 
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Exit packages (audited) 
 
 
Reporting of Civil Service and other compensation schemes – exit packages 
 
In 2019-20 there was one voluntary exit compensation scheme for departing staff 
(2018-19 - £nil). 

 
Exit package cost 

band 

£’000 

2019-20 2018-19 

Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of other 

departures agreed 

Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of 

other 

departures 

agreed 

0-10 - 1 - - 

10-25 - 5 - - 

25-50 - 6 - - 

50-100 - 1 - - 

     

Total Number - 13 - - 

Total resource cost 

(£’000) 

- 374 - - 

 
 
Redundancy and other departure costs are paid in accordance with the provisions of 
the Civil Service Compensation Scheme, a statutory scheme made under the 
Superannuation Act 1972. Exit costs are accounted for in full in the year of 
departure. Where the Agency has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are 
met in full by the Agency and not by the Civil Service pension scheme. Ill health 
retirement costs are met by the pension scheme. 
 
 
Consultancy costs and other off-payroll costs 
 
Consultancy  
 
During the year the agency commissioned a study to gain a better understanding of 
the user journey of the Minimal Asset Process (MAP) bankruptcy route. The insights 
gathered through the research will be used by AiB to help inform policy and practice, 
and to improve the bankruptcy process for those considering this debt solution. The 
consultancy cost for undertaking this exercise was £18k. 
 
 
Off-payroll engagements 
 
During the year there were no off-payroll appointments made.  
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
 
Please note that the Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report is not subject to 
audit. 
 
 
Losses statement 
 
In 2019-20 fees charged to sequestrated estates not able to be recovered amounted 
to £1.8 million (2018-19 - £1.8 million). This is considered a ‘constructive loss’ in line 
with the Scottish Public Finance Manual’s definition. There were no individual cases 
with a constructive loss over the defined value of £300,000 (2018-19 – nil cases). 
There were 1,162 cases (2018-19 – 1,085 cases) which incurred some level of 
constructive loss. 
 
 
Fees/charges 
 
Pages 22-24 of the Performance Analysis provides detail on how AiB recovers fees 
from bankruptcy. 
 
AiB has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in 
Scottish Government Public Finance Manual. 
 
 
Remote contingent liabilities 
 
Contingent liabilities that meet the disclosure requirements in IAS37 are included in 
the Notes to the Accounts. AiB also reports any liabilities for which the likelihood of a 
transfer of economic benefit in settlement is too remote to meet the definition of 
contingent liability. There are no remote contingent liabilities at 31 March 2020. 
 
 
Long-term expenditure trends 
 
The following chart outlines total resource expenditure over the previous ten years 
with annual spend fluctuating between £11.5 million and £12.8 million. Over this 
period, expenditure has been funded by a combination of statutory income and 
Scottish Government budget allocation. Following three successive years of full cost 
recovery, 2016-17 saw AiB requiring £0.1 million in Scottish Government funding. 
The budget required from Scottish Government increased to £0.5 in 2017-18 and 
£0.7 million in 2018-19. This year the agency required budget of £1.6 million to 
supplement the gap between operational expenditure and retained income. 
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Dr Richard Dennis 
Accountable Officer 
 
13 August 2020 
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Independent auditor’s report to The Accountant in Bankruptcy, 
the Auditor General for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament 

 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

 

Opinion on financial statements 

We have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of 
Accountant in Bankruptcy for the year ended 31 March 2020 under the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. The financial statements comprise 
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial 
Position, the Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ 
Equity and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 
2019/20 Government Financial Reporting Manual (the 2019/20 FReM). 

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view in accordance with the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made thereunder by the 
Scottish Ministers of the state of the body's affairs as at 31 March 2020 and 
of its net expenditure for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 2019/20 FReM; and 

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Ministers. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)), as required by the Code of Audit Practice 
approved by the Auditor General for Scotland. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We were appointed by the Auditor General 
on 31 May 2016, the period of total uninterrupted appointment is four years. We are 
independent of the body in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial 
Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. Non-audit services prohibited 
by the Ethical Standard were not provided to the body. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  

Conclusions relating to going concern basis of accounting 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 
ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where: 

 

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2016/code_audit_practice_16.pdf
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 the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is not appropriate; or 

 the body has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about its ability to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. 

 
Risks of material misstatement 

We have reported in a separate Annual Audit Report, which is available from the 
Audit Scotland website, the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
that we identified and our conclusions thereon. 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Accountable Officer Responsibilities, 
the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for 
such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. The capability of the audit to 
detect fraud and other irregularities depends on factors such as the skilfulness of the 
perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the degree of collusion 
involved, the relative size of individual amounts manipulated, and the seniority of 
those individuals involved. We therefore design and perform audit procedures which 
respond to the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud. 

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 

 

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/our-work/annual-audits
http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Other information in the annual report and accounts 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information in the annual report 
and accounts. The other information comprises the information other than the 
financial statements, the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report, and our 
auditor’s report thereon.  Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon 
except on matters prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland to the extent 
explicitly stated later in this report. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
all the other information in the annual report and accounts and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Report on regularity of expenditure and income 

 

Opinion on regularity 

In our opinion in all material respects: 

 the expenditure and income in the financial statements was incurred or 
applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued 
by the Scottish Ministers, the Budget (Scotland) Act covering the financial 
year and section 4 to 7 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000; and 

 the sums paid out of the Scottish Consolidated Fund for the purpose of 
meeting the expenditure shown in the financial statements were applied in 
accordance with section 65 of the Scotland Act 1998. 

 
Responsibilities for regularity 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and 
income.  We are responsible for expressing an opinion on the regularity of 
expenditure and income in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

Report on other requirements 

Opinions on matters prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland 

In our opinion, the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers. 
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In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

 the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements and that report has been prepared in accordance with the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Ministers; and 

 the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements and that report has been prepared in accordance with the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Ministers. 

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We are required by the Auditor General for Scotland to report to you if, in our 
opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

 the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff 
Report are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

 

Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities 

In addition to our responsibilities for the annual report and accounts, our conclusions 
on the wider scope responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit Practice are set out 
in our Annual Audit Report. 

 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with 
the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. 
In accordance with paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice, we do not 
undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual 
capacities, or to third parties. 

 

 
 
Date: 13 August 2020 
Joanne Brown, (for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP),  
110 Queen Street, 
Glasgow, 
G1 3BX 
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Annual Accounts 2019-20 

 
Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2020 
 

 2019-20 

 

2018-19 
       

  Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Programme costs 

 

 

 Staff costs 
Staff  

Report 5,324  

 

4,540  

 Direct sequestration costs 3 4,898  3,536  

 Other operating costs 3 1,496  2,069  

 Non-cash expenditure 3 1,496  1,371  

       

Total operating expenditure  13,214   11,516 
       
Total operating income 1.5,4 (11,566)    (10,769) 
       

Net expenditure/(surplus)   1,648  747 

      
Net (gain)/loss on 
revaluation/indexation of 
property, plant and equipment 5  (1)  (1) 

      

Comprehensive net 
expenditure/(income) for the 
year ended 31 March 2019   1,647  746 

  
All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.  
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Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020 
 

  

 
Note 2019-20 

£’000 
2018-19 

£’000 

    
Non-current assets:      
Property, plant and equipment 5 483 463 
Intangible assets 6 1,848 2,560 

    

Total non-current assets  2,331 3,023 

    

Current assets:    
Trade and other receivables 7 2,887 1,492 
Cash and cash equivalents 8 1,271 1,263 

    

Total current assets  4,158 2,755 
    

Total assets  6,489 5,778 
    

Current liabilities:    
Trade and other payables 9 (3,398) (1,444) 
Voluntary exit scheme payments Staff report, 9 (374) 0 

Provisions 12 (35) (38) 
Total current liabilities  (3,807) (1,482) 
    

Total assets less current liabilities  2,682 4,296 
    

Non-current liabilities:    
Other liabilities 9 (93) (110) 
    

Total non-current liabilities  (93) (110) 

Total assets less total liabilities  2,589 4,186 

    

Taxpayers' equity and other reserves    
General fund SOCTE 2,459 4,057 
Revaluation reserve SOCTE 130 129 
    

Total equity  2,589 4,186 

 
 

   

The Accountable Officer authorised these statements for issue on 13 August 2020. 
 
 

 
 
Dr Richard Dennis 
Accountable Officer 
 

13 August 2020  
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 Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2020 

 2019-20 2018-19 

 Note £’000 £’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net operating surplus/(expenditure)  (1,648) (747) 

Adjustments for non-cash transactions 3 1,496 1,371 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 7 (1,395) 144 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 9,10 2,185 (96) 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 (3) 32 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  635 704 

 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (150) (75) 

Purchase of intangible assets 6 (608) (910) 

Loss on disposal of intangible assets  0 0 

Increase/(decrease) in capital accruals 10 126 16 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities  (632) (969) 
 

 

From Scottish Consolidated Fund SOCTE 5 (65) 

 

Net financing  5 (65) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents  8 (330) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

period 8 1,263 1,593 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

period 8 1,271 1,263 
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Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 31 March 2020 

 

 

Note 

General 

fund 

£’000 

Revaluation 

reserve 

£’000 

 

Total 

£’000 

Balance at 1 April 2019   4,057 129 4,186 

Changes in taxpayers' equity for 2019-20       

Revaluation gains and losses 5,6 0 1 1 
Auditor's remuneration 3 45 0 45 
Comprehensive net expenditure for the year SoCNE (1,648) 0 (1,648) 
Net parliamentary funding  5 0 5 
     

Balance at 31 March 2020  2,459 130 2,589 

Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 31 March 2019 

 

 

Note 

General 

fund 

£’000 

Revaluation 

reserve 

£’000 

 

Total 

£’000 

Balance at 1 April 2018  4,826 128 4954 

Changes in taxpayers' equity for 2018-19       

Revaluation gains and losses 5,6 0 1 1 
Auditor's remuneration 3 43 0 43 
Comprehensive net expenditure for the year SoCNE (747) 0 (747) 
Net parliamentary funding  (65) 0 (65) 
     

Balance at 31 March 2019  4,057 129 4,186 
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Notes to the Accounts 

Accountant in Bankruptcy Annual Accounts 2019-20 

 

 

1. Accounting policies 

1.1 Authority 

In accordance with the accounts direction issued by Scottish Ministers under section 
19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, these accounts 
have been prepared in compliance with the principles and disclosure requirements of 
the Government Financial Reporting Manual issued by HM Treasury, which follows 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee interpretations and the 
Companies Act 2006 to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate in the 
public sector. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial 
Reporting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the 
accounting policies. The accounting policies, and where necessary estimation 
techniques, selected are done so in accordance with the principles set out in 
International Accounting Standard 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors.  
 
In response to the Covid-19 situation, the Agency has considered its ability to 
continue as a going concern. Management have assessed the organisation’s key 
risks in light of the pandemic and although there remains a great deal of financial 
uncertainty this is not expected to impact on our ability to operate. The financial 
statements for 2019-20 are showing a net asset position however as we have a 
statutory duty to provide our services any future net liabilities would require to be 
funded by Scottish Government. Our staff, key contractors and suppliers have 
adapted quickly to the situation to ensure that operationally we remain supported. 
Our excellent IT systems also provide assurances that we can continue to provide a 
valuable service to all of our stakeholders. Although the future remains highly 
uncertain and there are expected to be considerable challenges ahead, 
management have concluded that the Agency has the ability to continue as a going 
concern and the accounts have been prepared on this basis. 
 
 
1.2 Accounting convention 

These accounts are prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by the 
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and financial assets 
and liabilities at fair value. 
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1.3 Accounting standards  

 

1.3.1 Standards effective from January 2019 

The International Accounting Standards Board have issued some amendments to 

accounting standards with an effective date of January 2019.  

These relate to IAS 28: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, IFRS9: 

Financial Instruments and IAS19: Employee Benefits.  

IASB have also issued Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle 

which contained amendments to IAS12: Income Taxes, IAS23: Borrowing Costs, 

IFRS3: Business Combinations and IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements effective from 

January 2019.  

These amendments have had no impact on the reported accounts. 

 

1.3.2 Standards issued but not adopted 

IAS8 requires disclosure of information relating to the impact of an accounting 
change that will be required by a new standard that has been issued but not yet 
adopted. 
 
The standard that is considered relevant and the anticipated impact on the 
consolidated accounts is as follows: 
 

IFRS 16 – Leases 

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases and replaces IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 requires all leases to be 
accounted for 'on balance sheet', a major departure from the requirements of IAS 17 
in respect of operating leases. It introduces a single accounting model for all leases, 
similar to the treatment of a finance lease under IAS17, with the exception of low 
value assets and short term (<12 months) leases. 
 
The standard was not due to come into effect for public bodies operating under the 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) until April 2020. In response to the Covid-19 
situation, the Financial Reporting Advisory Board have agreed a further deferral to 1 
April 2021 for public bodies. 
  
The impact on the accounts will be significant. All future lease payments would 
require to be recognised as a right of use (ROU) asset and a lease liability in the 
Statement of Financial Position. The lease payment made during the year would not 
be charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure (SoCNE). Instead, 
depreciation in relation to the ROU asset and interest on the outstanding lease 
liability would be charged. 
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1.4 Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies 

In applying the accounting policies, the Agency has had to make certain judgements 
about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events.  
 
 
Insolvency fees accrual 
 
Critical judgements have been made in respect of income and expenditure accruals 
in relation to fees paid out to agents who administer bankruptcy cases on AiB’s 
behalf. 
 
For the financial year 2019-20, a sum of £2.6 million has been accrued in relation to 
commissions (£2.0 million) and basic fees (£0.6 million) which are due but not yet 
paid out to insolvency agents instructed to act on our behalf in sequestration cases. 
The accrual represents an increase of £1.7 million from 2018-19. The basic fee 
element is derived from the case management system which records fees due to the 
agents.  Responding to the Covid-19 situation and considering their own business 
models, our insolvency agents conducted a thorough assessment of future 
commissions payable to them and were in a position to provide a more detailed 
estimate of these than in previous years 
 
Within total income, a figure of £1.6 million has been included as an estimate of 
future recoveries due back from bankruptcy cases in respect of the above. A further 
sum of £0.5 million has been accrued in respect of interim commissions paid out 
during the year, the costs of which are yet to be recovered. The income estimate has 
assumed that 61% of fees will be recovered and repaid to the public purse based on 
historic recovery rates. The equivalent figure at the end of 2018-19 was 70%. A 5% 
change in the percentage of costs recovered would increase/decrease income by 
£0.1 million. 
 
 
Employee benefit accrual 
 
Averages have been used in the calculation of employee benefits, as staff within the 
same pay band are at different points on the relevant pay scale due to the 
application of annual increments based on performance. 
 
 
1.5 Revenue 

Operating income is income which relates directly to the operating activities of the 
Agency. It comprises statutory fees recovered from bankruptcy cases, fees for 
debtor and creditor applications for a bankruptcy and fees in relation to registering, 
advertising and supervising protected trust deeds. It also comprises fees for the 
administration of DAS and other miscellaneous income. 
 
All income from statutory fees in relation to the administration, audit and supervision 
of trustees are measured in accordance with IAS18. They are measured at the fair 
value of the amounts received and receivable. All revenue is recognised at the date 
of the event giving rise to the fee. 
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Income in respect of the recovery of case related statutory fees and outlays is also 
measured at the fair value of the amounts received and receivable. The Agency uses 
accounting estimates and judgements regarding the amounts recoverable from 
sequestration cases based on volumes of cases, forecast fees and outlays and an 
estimate of the proportion of cases which will result in recovery of costs. 
 
 
1.6 Property, plant and equipment  
 
Recognition 

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where: 
 

 it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes  

 it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to, or service potential be 
provided to, the Agency  

 it is expected to be used for more than one financial year 

 the cost of the item can be measured reliably 
 

All assets falling into the following categories are capitalised: 
 

 furniture, fittings & equipment and vehicles which are capable of being used 
for a period which could exceed one year, and have a cost equal to or greater 
than £5,000 

 Information and Communications Technology (ICT) systems are capitalised 
where they form part of a group of similar assets purchased at approximately 
the same time and cost over £1,000 in total 

 significant improvements to leasehold properties will be capitalised where the 
total cost of the group of assets is equal to or over £5,000  
 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives, such as plant and equipment, these components 
are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 
 
 

Measurement 
 
Valuation 
 
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing 
the costs directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. 
 
Other plant and equipment assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both) 
are reported on a depreciated historic cost basis as a proxy for fair value.  
Assets under construction are valued at current cost. This is calculated by the 
expenditure incurred to which an appropriate index is applied to arrive at current 
value. Assets under construction are also subject to impairment review. 
 
 
 



PART 3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

ACCOUNTANT IN BANKRUPTCY - ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019-20 PAGE 69 OF 125 

 

 
Subsequent expenditure 
 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised into an asset’s carrying value where it is 
probable the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Agency and the cost can be reliably measured. Where subsequent expenditure does 
not meet these criteria, the expenditure is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure. If part of an asset is replaced, then the part it 
replaces is de-recognised, regardless of whether or not it has been depreciated 
separately. 
 
Revaluations and impairment 
 
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation 
reserve, except where they reverse an impairment previously recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive net expenditure, in which case they are recognised as 
income. 
 
Movements on revaluation are considered for individual assets rather than groups or 
land/buildings together. 
 
Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve 
to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned and 
thereafter are charged to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure. 
 
Depreciation 
 
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their estimated residual 
value over their remaining useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. 
 
Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis on each main class of property, plant 
and equipment as follows: 
 
 

Furniture, fittings & equipment 
non fixed plant 

3 to 10 years 

ICT equipment 3 years 

Leasehold improvements 10 years or life of lease term if 
shorter 

Held for sale assets Not depreciated 

Assets under construction Not depreciated 
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1.7 Intangible assets 
 
 
Recognition 
 
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are 
capable of being sold separately from the rest of the Agency’s business or which 
arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be 
provided to, the Agency and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 
 
Intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria are capitalised where they are 
capable of being used in the Agency’s activities for more than one year and they 
have a cost of at least £1,000. 
 
The Agency’s main class of capitalised intangible assets are purchased intangible 
assets on bespoke case management systems. Expenditure on development is 
capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated: 
 

 the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an 
intangible asset for sale or use 

 the Agency intends to complete the asset and sell or use it 

 the Agency has the ability to sell or use the asset 

 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service 
delivery benefits, for example: the presence of a market for it or its output, or 
where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the asset 

 adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the Agency 
to complete the development and sell or use the asset 

 the Agency can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during 
development 
 

Expenditure capitalised in line with the above is limited to the value of probable 
future economic benefits. 
 
 

Measurement 
 
Valuation 
 
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable 
costs needed to create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. 
 
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Where an active 
(homogeneous) market exists, intangible assets are carried at current value. Where 
no active market exists, the intangible asset is revalued, using indices or some 
suitable model, to the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use 
where the asset is income generating. Where there is no value in use, the intangible 
asset is valued using depreciated replacement cost. These measures are a proxy for 
fair value. 
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Revaluations and impairment 
 
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation 
reserve, except where they reverse an impairment previously recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive net expenditure, in which case they are recognised as 
income.  
 
Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve 
to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and 
thereafter are charged to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure. 
 
Intangible assets held for sale are reclassified to ‘non-current assets held for sale’ 
measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less cost to sell’. 
 
 
Amortisation 
 
Intangible assets are amortised to their estimated residual value over their remaining 
useful economic lives in a manner that is consistent with the consumption of 
economic or service delivery benefits. 
 
Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis to the statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure on each of the main class of intangible assets as follows: 
 
 

Computer software - bespoke 5 years 

Computer software – licenses  3 years or life of licence if less 

Held for sale Not amortised 

 
 
1.8 Sale of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and non-current 
assets held for sale 
 
Disposal of non-current assets is accounted for as a reduction to the value of assets 
equal to the net book value of the assets disposed. When set against any sales 
proceeds, the resulting gain or loss on disposal will be recorded in the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure. Non-current assets held for sale will include assets 
transferred from other categories and will reflect any resultant changes in valuation. 
 
 
1.9 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Where an asset 
is not held for the purpose of generating cash flows, value in use is assumed to 
equal the cost of replacing the service potential provided by the asset, unless there 
has been a reduction in service potential.  
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For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets that suffer an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment. Impairment losses charged to the statement of comprehensive net 
expenditure are deducted from future operating costs to the extent that they are 
identified as being reversed in subsequent revaluations. 
 
 
1.10 Leasing 
 
Operating leases 
 
The agency has one lease and this is regarded as an operating lease. The rentals 
are charged to expenditure on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals and charged to 
expenditure over the life of the lease. 
 
 
1.11 Employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefits 
 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the year in 
which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave and flexible 
working time entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the year is 
recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to 
carry-forward leave into the following year.  
 
Pension costs 
 
Present and past employees are covered by the provisions of the Principal Civil 
Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) which is a defined benefit scheme and is 
unfunded. The Agency recognises the expected cost of providing pensions for their 
employees on a systematic and rational basis over the period during which they 
benefit from their services by payment to the PCSPS of amounts calculated on an 
accruing basis. Relevant disclosures are reported in the remuneration report. Liability 
for the payment of future benefits is a charge to the PCSPS. 
 
In respect of the defined contribution schemes, the Agency recognises the 
contributions payable for the year. 
 
 
1.12 Financial instruments 
 
Cash requirements for AiB are met through the Scottish Government and therefore 
financial instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing risk than 
would apply within a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments 
relate to receivables and payables incurred through the normal operational activities 
of the Agency. The Agency is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market 
risk. 
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Financial assets 
 
The Agency classifies its financial assets in the following three categories: at fair 
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available for sale. The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 
 
Financial assets held by AiB have been classified as loans and receivables or cash. 
Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables. 
 
Loans and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are stated at fair value 
reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. 
 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Agency classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: at fair value 
through profit or loss, and other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial liabilities were issued. Management determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 
 
Financial liabilities of the Agency consist of trade and other payables. These are 
non-interest bearing and recognised at fair value.  
 
  
1.13 Related party transactions  
 
Material related party transactions are disclosed in line with the requirements of IAS 
24 – Related Party Disclosures. 
 
 
1.14 Provisions  
 
The Agency provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing 
or amount at the balance sheet date on the basis of the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of 
money is significant, the estimated cash flows are discounted using the discount rate 
prescribed by HM Treasury. 
 
 
1.15 Value added tax  
 
Most of the chargeable activities undertaken by the Agency are outside the scope of 
VAT. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are 
stated net of VAT. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category 
or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets.  
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1.16 Segmental reporting 
 
AiB reports on one single core segment which represents the principle objective of 
the administration and monitoring of statutory debt management and debt relief 
solutions in Scotland. 
 
 
1.17 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks 
and any other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less and bank overdrafts. Any bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.  
 
 
1.18 Third party assets 
 
Assets belonging to third parties (such as consignation and sequestration funds) are 
not recognised in the accounts since the Agency has no beneficial interest in them. 
However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts in accordance with 
the requirements of the Financial Reporting Manual. 
 
 
2. Staff numbers, costs and pensions 
 
Information is detailed in the Accountability Report under the Staff Report section. 
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3. Expenditure analysis 

    2019-20 2018-19 

      £’000  £’000 

(a) Other operating costs   

General administration 875 1,441 

Accommodation* 591 601 

Travel & subsistence 30 27 

 
1,496 2,069 

 

(b) Direct sequestration costs   

Insolvency agents’ administration fees 4,225 2,627 

Legal fees 351 421 

Other sequestration outlays 322 488 

 4,898 3,536 

 
  

(c)  Non cash transactions   

Depreciation 1,451 1,328 

Auditor’s fees 45 43 

 1,496 1,371 
 

*Included in Accommodation is lease expenditure of £347,468 for the 2019-20 rental of AiB’s Kilwinning 

office. 
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4. Operating income 

 2019-20 2018-19 

 £’000 £’000 

 

Repayments to the public purse 4,939 4,151 

Trust deed supervision and audit fees 2,596 2,525 

Trustee audit and other statutory fees 1,455 1,616 

Trust deed registration and advertising fees 729 658 

Debt Arrangement Scheme fees 715 665 

Debtor application fees 565 557 

Creditor petition application fees 458 427 

Consignation lodgement and uplift fees 63 125 

Data download and discharge certificate fees 46 45 

   

 11,566 10,769 
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5. Property, plant and equipment 
 

 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Furniture, 

fittings, 

equipment 

IT 

equipment Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

 

Cost or valuation     

At 1 April 2019 1,569 103 424 2,096 
Revaluation 29 0 0 29 
Additions 30 13 107 150 

Disposals 0 0 (60) (60) 

At 31 March 2020 1,628 116 471 2,215 

     

Depreciation     

At 1 April 2019 1,288 47 298 1,633 
Provided during year 49 15 67 131 
Backlog depreciation 28 0 0 28 
Disposals 0 0 (60) (60) 

At 31 March 2020 1,365 62 305 1,732 

     

Net book value     

At 31 March 2020 263 54 166 483 

     

At 1 April 2019 281 56 126 463 
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Note 5 continued 

 

 

 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Furniture, 

fittings, 

equipment 

IT 

equipment Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

 

Cost or valuation     

At 1 April 2018 1,541 103 365 2,009 
Revaluation 28 0 0 28 
Additions 0 0 75 75 
Disposals 0 0 (16) (16) 

At 31 March 2019 1,569 103 424 2,096 

     

Depreciation     

At 1 April 2018 1,205 32 256 1,493 
Provided during year 55 15 58 128 
Backlog depreciation 28 0 0 28 
Disposals 0 0 (16) (16) 

At 31 March 2019 1,288 47 298 1,633 

     

Net book value     

At 31 March 2019 281 56 126 463 

     

At 1 April 2018 336 71 109 516 
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6. Intangible assets 

 

 

 

Software 

licenses 

IT software and 

development Websites Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

 

Cost or valuation  

  

 

At 1 April 2019 177 7,366 56 7,599 
Additions 18 590 0 608 
Disposals (3) 0 0 (3) 

At 31 March 2020 192 7,956 56 8,204 

 

Amortisation     

At 1 April 2019 113 4,876 50 5,039 

Provided during year 29 1,285 6 1,320 
Disposals (3) 0 0 (3) 

At 31 March 2020 139 6,161 56 6,356 

 

Net book value     

At 31 March 2020 53 1,795 0 1,848 

 
At 1 April 2019 64 2,490 6 2,560 

 

 

All intangible assets have been purchased. 
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Note 6 continued 

 

 

 

Software 

licenses 

IT software and 

development Websites Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

 

Cost or valuation  

  

 

At 1 April 2018 122 6,513 56 6,691 
Additions 57 853 0 910 
Disposals (2) 0 0 (2) 

At 31 March 2019 177 7,366 56 7,599 

 

Amortisation     

At 1 April 2018 101 3,697 43 3,841 

Provided during year 14 1,179 7 1,200 
Disposals (2) 0 0 (2) 

At 31 March 2019 113 4,876 50 5,039 

 

Net book value     

At 31 March 2019 64 2,490 6 2,560 

 
At 1 April 2018 21 2,816 13 2,850 

 

 

 

All intangible assets have been purchased. 
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7. Receivables 

Amounts falling due within 1 year 

 2019-20 2018-19 

  £’000 £’000 

(a) Analysis by type   

 Accrued income 2,100 800 

 Trade receivables 656 582 

 Prepayments 104 98 

 Other receivables 27 12 

 2,887 1,492 

 

(b) Intra government balances 

 Balances with other central government bodies 19 4 

 Balances with local authorities 66 69 

 Balances with NHS bodies - - 

 Balances with public corporations & trading funds - - 

Total intra-government balances 85 73 

Balances with bodies external to government 2,802 1,419 

 2,887 1,492 

 
Accrued income reflects the accrual estimate for recovery of fees paid out to 
insolvency agents working on AiB’s behalf.  
 
During the year, bad debt totalling £1,600 has been written off with a further £3,818 
deemed to be unlikely to be recovered. The majority of trade receivables is in 
respect of bankruptcy or trust deed fees and charges. 
  
At 31 March 2020, the following trade receivables were past due but not impaired: 
 
 

31-60 days 

£’000 

61-90 days 

£’000 

Over 90 days 

£’000 

Total 

£’000 

214 37 50 301 
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8. Cash and cash equivalents 

 2019-20 2018-19 

 £’000 £’000 

   

Balance at 1 April 2019 1,263 1,593 

Net change in cash balance 8 (330) 

Balance at 31 March 2020 1,271 1,263 

 
As all payments and receipts are effected through the Scottish Government 
Enterprise Accounting System, apart from accounts used as the means for clearing 
inward payments, no other separate bank accounts are currently held by the Agency 
other than those held on behalf of third parties as detailed in Note 14. All bank 
accounts are held with commercial banks. 
 

9. Payables 

Amounts falling due within one year 

 2019-20 2018-19 

 £’000 £’000 

    

(a)          Analysis by type 
  

Creditor accruals 3,122 1,260 

Voluntary Exit Scheme 374 0 
Employee benefits accrual 182 147 

Trade payables 65 10 

Deferred income 29 27 

  3,772 1,444 

 

(b)        Intra-government balances 

Balances with other central government bodies 0 0 

Balances with bodies external to government 3,772 1,444 

  3,772 1,444 
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The employee benefits accrual represents annual leave and flexible working time 

credits earned but not taken as at 31 March 2020.  

 

Amounts falling due after one year 

  2019-20 2018-19 

  £’000 £’000 

Deferred rent 93 110 

  93 110 

 

10. Movements in working capital other than cash 

   2019-20   2018-19 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

(Increase)/decrease in receivables  (1,395)  144 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  (3)  32 

     

Increase/(decrease) in payables 2,311  (80)  

Less movement in capital accruals        (126)  (16)  

Sub-total for cash flow statement  2,185  (96) 

  
787 

 
80 

 

11. Financial instruments 

   2019-20 2018-19 

   £’000    £’000 

Financial assets     

Accrued income (Note 7)   2,100 800 

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 8)   1,271 1,263 

Trade receivables (Note 7)   656 582 

Other receivables (Note 7)   27 12 

   4,054 2,657 

 

     



PART 3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

ACCOUNTANT IN BANKRUPTCY - ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019-20 PAGE 84 OF 125 

 

 

Financial liabilities     

Creditor accruals (Note 9)   3,122 1,260 

Voluntary Exit Scheme Payments (Note 9)   374 0 

Trade payables (Note 9)   65 10 

Other payables (Note 9)   0 0 

   3,561 1,270 

     

Non-close embedded derivatives   £nil £nil 

Derivative financial instruments   £nil £nil 
 
 
 
12. Provisions for liabilities and charges 
 
Under IAS 37, a provision is recognised where there is a present obligation arising 
from past events. During the year a provision of £35,000 has been set aside in 
respect of legal charges. 
 
At 31 March 2019 a provision for £37,669 was set aside in respect of two historic 
insolvency cases where funds due to creditors were reverted to the debtor. During 
the 2019-20 financial year, the full £37,669 has been utilised to pay the sums due to 
creditors. 
 
 
Operational Provision 

  £’000 

Opening Balance 1 April 2019 38 

Additions 35 

Utilised during the year (38) 

Unused amounts reversed 0 

Closing Balance 31 March 2020 35 
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13. Commitments under operating leases 
 
The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are: 
 
Land and buildings: 

 £’000 £’000 

Payable not later than 1 year 203 347 

Payable later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 203 

Payable later than 5 years 0 0 

 203 550 

 

The current lease for AiB’s office in Kilwinning comes to an end in October 2025. 
The option to break the lease was exercised by serving a notice to quit in January 
2020. Heads of Terms have been agreed with the landlord for a new lease 
agreement and will be legally signed off prior to October 2020 when the new lease 
will commence.  
 
The new lease will operate until October 2035 with an option to break the lease in 
2030. The present value of future non-cancellable lease payments of the new lease 
is £3.9 million. 
  



PART 3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

ACCOUNTANT IN BANKRUPTCY - ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019-20 PAGE 86 OF 125 

 

 

14. Third party assets 

Assets held at 31 March 2020 to which monetary value can be assigned: 

 2019-20 

 

2018-19 

 £’000 £’000 

   

Sequestration bank balances 16,560 20,497 

Unclaimed dividends and unapplied balances 11,080 12,143 

Third party funds in transit* 109 40 

Total monetary assets 27,749 32,680 

 
*Third party funds in transit represents funds received prior to 31st March 2020 and not yet allocated 

to a sequestration case or a DAS Case, or case payments awaiting distribution to creditors. 

 
Section 111 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 2016 states that in any case where the 
trustee is AiB, all money received in the exercise of its functions as trustee must be 
deposited by AiB in an interest-bearing account. These monies comprise of realised 
assets awaiting distribution to creditors, repayment to the public purse and money 
consigned in respect of unclaimed dividends and unapplied balances. These funds 
are held within Royal Bank of Scotland accounts. 
 
Section 150 of the Act states that at the expiry of seven years from the date of 
deposit of any unclaimed dividend or unapplied balance, AiB must surrender the 
funds to the Scottish Ministers. 
 
Assets held at 31 March 2020 by number: 

 

 

 

 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2018-19 

 No. of assets No. of assets No. of assets No. of assets 

 In-house Agent/Provider Total Total 

Residential property 18 764 782 925 

Life policies 1 137 138 175 

Motor vehicles 1 7 8 14 

Shares and other 

investments 
1 6 7 31 

Miscellaneous 0 802 802 204 
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15. Financial/capital commitments 
 
The Agency has entered into contracts (which are not leases or PFI contracts) for 
the supply of goods and services necessary to effectively deliver its statutory 
function, while seeking to achieve value for money. Under the revised definition by 
the Scottish Government of Financial Commitments, effective as from 1 April 2008, 
contracts in the normal course of business do not require disclosure. 
 
AiB has one capital commitment as at 31 March 2020 for IT hardware at a cost of 
£40,500 plus VAT. Contracted capital commitments as at 31 March 2018 were £nil. 
 
 
16. Contingent liabilities 
 
There were no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2020. At the 31 March 2019 there 
was one contingent liability that materialised during the 2019-20 financial year. 
 
 
17. Contingent assets 
 
The Agency has one contingent asset relating to recovery of legal fees. In 2018-19 
there was a contingent asset relating to recovery of legal fees and this materialised 
during the 2019-20 financial year. 
 
 
18. Related party transactions 
 
AiB is an Executive Agency of the Scottish Government. During the year, the Agency 
had various material transactions with the Scottish Government. 
 
During the year, AiB did not enter into any material transactions with other related 
parties.  
 
A small amount of funding (£5k) was provided to Money Advice Scotland (MAS) as a 
contribution towards the MAS conference in May 2019. In 2018-19 funding of 
£226,000 was provided to MAS for training and second tier support to the advice 
sector. The budget and responsibility for paying this funding transferred to another 
Scottish government body during 2019-20. The Chief Executive of Money Advice 
Scotland is Yvonne MacDermid who, since 17 February 2011, was a Non-Executive 
Board Member of AiB from 17 February 2011 until 21 August 2019.  
 
 
19. Payments to suppliers 
 
The Agency complies with the Confederation of British Industry prompt payment 
code and is committed to the prompt payment of bills for goods and services 
received. Payments are normally made as specified in the contract. If there is no 
contractual provision or other understanding, they are due to be made within 30 days 
of the receipt of the goods and services, or the presentation of a valid invoice or 
similar demand, whichever is later. In 2019-20, the percentage of invoices paid on 
time was 99% (2018-19 – 99%). Only three invoices missed the 30 day terms. 
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In line with Scottish Government direction, AiB will look to pay all suppliers within 10 
days. In 2019-20 this was achieved 97% on time with 15 invoices being paid past the 
10 day target. (2018-19 - 95%). 
 
  
20. Audit 
 
Under the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, the Auditor 
General for Scotland is responsible for appointing the external auditors of the 
Agency. Grant Thornton UK LLP were appointed from 2016-17. The indicative 
notional fee for this service in 2019-20 was £44,700 (2018-19 - £43,830), which 
relates solely to the provision of statutory audit services. No payments were made to 
Grant Thornton UK LLP other than in respect of the statutory audit. 
 
 
21. Post balance sheet events 
 
There were no significant post balance sheet events. 
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Appendix A 
 

Direction by the Scottish Ministers 
 

 
 

Accountant in Bankruptcy 

 

Direction by the Scottish Ministers 

in accordance with section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000 

 
 

1. The statement of accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2006 and 
subsequent years shall comply with the accounting principles and disclosure 
requirements of the edition of the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) which is in force for the year for which the statement of accounts are 
prepared. 

 

2. The accounts shall be prepared so as to give a true and fair view of the 
income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses, and cash flows for the 
financial year, and of the state of affairs as at the end of the financial year. 

 

3. This direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the statement of 
accounts. The direction given on 28 March 2003 is hereby revoked.  

 

 
 

Signed by the authority of the Scottish Ministers 

Dated 17 January 2006 
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Appendix B 
 
Statistical information 1 - this section is not audited 
 
 

Personal insolvency: Bankruptcy 
 
Bankruptcy (also known as sequestration in Scotland) is a legal declaration that a 
person cannot pay their debts. If a person is declared bankrupt, control of things that 
they own are passed to a trustee who may sell them to pay money owed to creditors. 
 
Awards of bankruptcy 
 
There were 4,748 bankruptcies awarded in 2019-20, a decrease of 2.6% when 
compared with 2018-19 (see table 1). 
 
 
Table 1: Awards of bankruptcy, 2015-16 to 2019-20 
 
 

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

Awards of bankruptcy 3,765 4,562 4,644 4,873 4,748 

  
 
Awards of bankruptcy by petition type 
 
Awards of bankruptcy can be grouped into three types: 
 

 debtor application – application made by the debtor to The Accountant in 
Bankruptcy 

 creditor petition – applications to the court by a creditor to pursue the 
sequestration of a debtor 

 trust deed petition – applications where the trustee under a trust deed has 
applied to the court for the debtor’s sequestration as the trust deed has failed 

 
Table 2 shows that the majority (80.7%) of bankruptcies awarded came from debtor 
applications. The number of bankruptcies awarded through debtor applications 
decreased by 0.9% in 2019-20 when compared with 2018-19. 
 
Awards of bankruptcy through creditor petitions decreased by 8.5% in 2019-20 when 
compared with 2018-19. Trust deed petition bankruptcies remained less than 1% of 
all awards of bankruptcy in 2019-20. 
 
 
1. Previously published figures subject to revision 
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Table 2: Awards of bankruptcy by petition type, 2015-16 to 2019-20 
 

Awards of bankruptcy 
petition type 

 
2015-16 

 
2016-17 

 
2017-18 

 
2018-19 

 
2019-20 

Debtor applications 2,593 3,374 3,409 3,869 3,833 

Creditor petitions 1,170 1,182 1,231 994 910 

Trust deed petitions 2 6 4 10 5 

Total awards of bankruptcy 3,765 4,562 4,644 4,873 4,748 

 
 
Awards of bankruptcy by trustee appointment and petition type 
 
In Scotland, a trustee is appointed to administer each bankruptcy. The Accountant in 
Bankruptcy (The Accountant) will be the trustee unless an insolvency practitioner 
(IP) is nominated to act. 
 
In 2019-20, around 83.1% of all awards of bankruptcies were cases where The 
Accountant was appointed as trustee. In the remaining 16.9% of cases, an IP was 
the nominated trustee. 
 
Table 3 shows awards of bankruptcy by trustee appointment and petition type in 
2018-19 and 2019-20. The number of cases where The Accountant was appointed 
as trustee was 3,947, decreased from 4,155 in 2018-19. The number of cases where 
an IP was appointed trustee increased from 718 to 801. 
 
Table 3: Awards of bankruptcy by trustee appointment and petition type: 2018-
19 and 2019-20 
 
 

Awards of bankruptcy petition type 2018-19 2019-20 

AiB as trustee 4,155 3,947 

Debtor applications 3,363 3,291 

Creditor petitions 787 654 

Trustee petitions 5 2 

IP as trustee 718 801 

Debtor applications 506 542 

Creditor petitions 207 256 

Trustee petitions 5 3 

Total awards of bankruptcy 4,873 4,748 
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Debtor applications for bankruptcy received by AiB 
 
Not all debtor applications for bankruptcy result in an award being made and 
applications can be rejected (criteria for bankruptcy not met) or returned (application 
errors). 
 
Applications for bankruptcy showed a decrease in 2019-20 when compared with the 
previous year. In 2019-20, 3,859 applications for bankruptcy were received by AiB, 
compared with 4,051 in 2018-19 (see table 4). 
 
Table 4: Debtor applications for bankruptcy, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 

Debtor applications received 4,051 3,860 

Debtor applications returned 11 17 

Rejections 91 70 

 
 
Bankruptcy awards by debtor applications 
 
In 2019-20, around 80.7% of the 4,748 awards of bankruptcy came from debtor 
applications. 
 
There are two types of debtor applications for bankruptcy - 
Minimal Asset Process (MAP) or full administration. In 2019-
20, around 52.7% of bankruptcies awarded through debtor 
applications were MAP cases with the remaining cases 
being full administration (see table 5). 
 
MAP bankruptcy replaced the Low Income Low Asset (LILA) route in April 2015. 
The number of LILA bankruptcy awards followed the declining trend in overall 
bankruptcies since 2008-09. There was a spike in activity in April to June 2012  likely 
as a result of the scheduled increase in fees to access bankruptcy being introduced 
on 1 June 2012. The introduction of BADA(S) in April 2015, was the most likely 
cause for the sharp decline in the number of bankruptcies awarded in April to June 
2015. 
 
The total awards of debtor applications have increased by 47.8% in 2019-20 when 
compared with 2015-16. However, this 2019-20 level remains below levels between 
2008-09 and 2014-15. 
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Table 5: Awards of bankruptcy by type (debtor applications only), 2018-19 and 
2019-20 
 
 

Debtor applications 2018-19 2019-20 

Minimal Asset Process (MAP) 2,181 2,020 

Full Administration 1,688 1,813 

Total debtor applications 3,869 3,833 

 
 
Bankruptcy Restrictions Orders and Bankruptcy Restrictions Undertakings 
 
Bankruptcy Restrictions Orders (BROs) and Bankruptcy Restrictions Undertakings 
(BRUs) were introduced by The Bankruptcy and Diligence etc. (Scotland) Act 2007 
and came in to force on 1 April 2008. BRUs were subsequently abolished from April 
2015 by the Bankruptcy and Debt Advice (Scotland) Act 2014. 
 
The purpose of BROs is to provide a level of protection to businesses and 
consumers from individuals made bankrupt as a result of misconduct or 
recklessness before or after the date of bankruptcy. These individuals are held 
accountable for their actions by the imposition of bankruptcy restrictions for an 
extended period of time. BROs for a period of between two, but less than five years 
are imposed by AiB while BROs of a longer duration require an application through 
the court. 
 
Table 6 shows the number of BROs in 2018-19 and 2019-20. Restrictions are 
imposed in relative small numbers when compared with the overall caseload of AiB. 
In 2019-20 there was an increase in BROs granted. The Bankruptcy & Debt Advice 
(Scotland) Act which came into force in 2015 conferred a new power on trustees to 
withhold the discharge of non-cooperating bankrupts. This change has contributed to 
the reduction in BRO volumes in recent years. 
 
 
Table 6: Bankruptcy Restrictions Orders and Bankruptcy Restrictions 
Undertakings, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 
 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 

BROs granted 16 26 

BRO applications pending at year end 106 72 
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Bankruptcy awards by local authority in 2019-20 
 
The number of bankruptcies awarded can be shown by local authority areas, based 
on the applicant’s postcode. Using the estimated adult population (aged 16+) of each 
local authority, the number of bankruptcies per 10,000 adults can be calculated, 
providing a representative picture of the concentration of bankruptcies in Scotland1. 
 
Several elements such as access to debt advice, social perception of debt or ease of 
access to credit can affect the uptake of statutory debt solutions (bankruptcies 
awarded, protected trust deeds registered and DAS debt payment programmes 
approved). Consequently, the figures presented in this report cannot be regarded as 
evidence of the level of indebtedness or economic performance in any particular 
local authority. 
 
The rate of bankruptcies per 10,000 adults in Scotland was 10.5 in 2019-20 
compared with 10.8 in 2018-19. 
 
Table 7 shows that West Lothian was the local authority with the highest rate of 
bankruptcies per 10,000 adults (see map 1), and the overall highest rate of personal 
insolvencies (which include both bankruptcies and protected trust deeds) in 
Scotland. Similarly, West Dunbartonshire was the local authority area with the 
second highest rate of bankruptcies, and of personal insolvencies. 
 
Awards of bankruptcy (and for other statutory debt solutions) by local authority and 
for previous years are available. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
____________ 
1 Adult population estimates for each local authority are taken from the National Records of Scotland 2018 mid-
year estimates. Rate per 10,000 adults (aged 16+) is the specific number of statutory debt solution divided by the 
number of people aged 16 or over, multiplied by 10,000. A rate of a 100 per 10,000 adults is equivalent to 1% of 
the adult population. A small number of cases were unable to be matched to the Scottish Postcode Directory 
(either the postcode was unknown or the applicant supplied a postcode outside of Scotland) and therefore not 
included in the local authority tables and maps. For all three statutory debt solutions unknown postcodes 
accounted for less than 1% of annual statutory debt solutions. 

https://www.aib.gov.uk/about-aib/statistics-data/debt-solutions-local-authority
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Table 7: Awards of bankruptcy per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local 
authority, Scotland, 2019-20 

 

Local authority Awards of 
bankruptcy 

Awards of bankruptcy per 10,000 
adult population (aged 16+) 

West Lothian 250 16.9 

West Dunbartonshire 124 16.9 

Dundee City 210 16.8 

Inverclyde 97 14.9 

Angus 134 13.8 

Falkirk 175 13.2 

Fife 402 13.0 

North Ayrshire 146 13.0 

Highland 246 12.5 

East Lothian 102 11.7 

South Lanarkshire 304 11.5 

North Lanarkshire 318 11.4 

Moray 88 11.0 

Perth and Kinross 140 11.0 

Aberdeen City 210 10.9 

East Ayrshire 109 10.8 

East Renfrewshire 79 10.4 

Renfrewshire 149 10.0 

Clackmannanshire 42 9.9 

Argyll and Bute 71 9.7 

Orkney Islands 18 9.6 

Glasgow City 458 8.6 

Stirling 66 8.4 

Aberdeenshire 177 8.3 

Midlothian 62 8.3 

Dumfries and Galloway 96 7.6 

Shetland Islands 13 6.9 

City of Edinburgh 297 6.7 

Scottish Borders 63 6.5 

East Dunbartonshire 51 5.7 

Na h-Eileanan Siar 10 4.5 

South Ayrshire 40 4.2 
   

Unknown postcode 1 - 

Scotland 4,748 10.5 
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Map 1: Awards of bankruptcy per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local 
authority, Scotland, 2019-20 
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Bankruptcies discharged 
 
A debtor in a bankruptcy will normally be bankrupt for one year. After this period they 
may be discharged. Although the debtor is discharged, the administration of the 
bankruptcy continues until the trustee has dealt with all of the estate and accounted 
for their work so that they can seek their own discharge. A debtor must continue to 
cooperate with the trustee until the trustee's discharge. 
 
In 2019-20 there were 4,973 bankruptcies discharged (based on discharge of the 
trustee), a 11.4% decrease on the previous year. 
 
 
Table 8: Bankruptcies discharged, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 

Bankruptcies discharged 5,615 4,954 

 
 
Although the debtor discharge may occur after one year, a trustee may remain in 
office to allow the administration of the bankruptcy to be completed. 
 
When the trustee in a bankruptcy is discharged, any funds gathered in respect of 
debts are divided among the creditors depending on the type of debt included in the 
bankruptcy. Secured debt is backed by some form of collateral which would be 
considered as a security should default of payment occur, for example, secured debt 
over property. Preferred debt is payable before ordinary and postponed debts in a 
bankruptcy, trust deed, or the winding up of a company. 
 
It should be noted, however, that the protected status of many preferred creditors 
was abolished following revisions to the legislation in September 2003. Ordinary debt 
is any other type that is not preferred or secured. 
 
Awards concluded during 2019-20 and the dividend outcome of the discharged 
cases are shown in table 9. 
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Table 9: Bankruptcies awarded and concluded, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 

In dependence at start of year (live cases) 9,949 9,163 

New awards 4,873 4,748 

Total 14,822 13,911 

Less:   

Recalls/disposals/discharges (44) (73) 

Bankruptcies concluded by discharge of the trustee in 
which: 

  

No dividend was payable to creditors (2,562) (2,023) 

Dividend payable to preferred creditors only (2) (2) 

Dividend payable to ordinary creditors (1,059) (783) 

Discharged MAP cases (1,992) (2,146) 

Total (5,659) (5,027) 

Cases in dependence at end of year (31 March) 9,163 8,884 

 
  
Of the bankruptcies concluded by discharge of the permanent trustee, 72.0% 
resulted in no dividend payable to creditors and 28.0% resulted in a dividend payable 
to ordinary creditors only. This includes cases where a dividend could be payable 
and therefore excludes MAP cases. 
 
If all bankruptcy cases that concluded by discharge of the trustee in 2019-20 are 
considered, including MAP cases, a dividend was paid to ordinary creditors in 15.8% 
of cases. 
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Table 10 below shows details of the 785 cases wound up and the division of funds 
following a trustee’s discharge during 2019-20. 
 
 
Table 10: Bankruptcies wound up by division of funds following the trustee's 
discharge during, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 
 

Dividend payable to 2018-19 2019-20 

Preferred creditors only 2 2 

Ordinary creditors   

    Less than 25p per £ 603 400 

    Between 25p and 50p per £ 135 117 

    Between 50p and 75p per £ 77 53 

    Between 75p and 99p per £ 48 37 

    100p per £ plus interest 195 176 

Sub Total 1,059 783 

Total 1,061 785 

 
 
Table 10 shows that around 51.1% of cases where ordinary creditor dividends are 
paid were paid at less than 25 pence in the pound, which is less than 56.9% in 2018-
19. The table also shows that 22.5% were paid at 100 pence in the pound plus 
interest, which is more than the 18.4% in 2018-19. 
 
The Accountant in Bankruptcy may not seek appointment as trustee in bankruptcies 
in Scotland but may be appointed by default, or specific nomination by creditors. In 
2019-20 the Accountant was appointed as trustee in 83.1% of bankruptcies 
awarded, compared with 85.3% of bankruptcy awards in 2018-19. 
 
Appointment by default means The Accountant is appointed as trustee in 
bankruptcies where a private trustee is not nominated, often when the debtor has 
few or no assets or income from which sufficient funds can be gathered to enable a 
dividend to be paid to creditors. The Accountant automatically becomes trustee in all 
MAP cases and was automatically trustee in all LILA cases. 
 
Table 11 compares the dividend outcome of bankruptcy cases for private sector 
trustees and AiB when acting as a trustee in 2019-20. The comparison is made 
where the permanent trustee was discharged and the distribution of dividends was 
payable to preferred or ordinary creditors. MAP or LILA cases are not included 
because these cases do not generate a dividend. The average dividend is based on 
those cases where a dividend was payable to a preferred or ordinary creditor. 
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Table 11: Comparison of dividend outcomes between private sector trustees 
and AiB when acting as a trustee, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 
 
Note: the table does not include MAP or LILA cases as these do not generate a dividend 

 
 
For all cases that a dividend was payable, a total of around £12.5 million was repaid 
to creditors in 2019-20. Where AiB was trustee, around £7.8 million was repaid and 
£4.7 million was repaid where a private sector trustee had been in place. 
 
In 2019-20, the mean dividend paid to creditors for all cases including those with 
zero dividends was 11.4 pence in the £, compared with 10.5 in 2018-19. In cases 
where AiB was appointed the trustee, the mean dividend value was 12.9 pence in 
the £ compared with 9.4 pence in the £ for cases where a private sector trustee was 
appointed. Dividends are affected by the realised value of assets, which in turn, are 
affected by economic conditions.  
 
Please note that, in the previous annual reports, figures for “average dividend paid to 
creditors” are misleading as the table for such figures should be labelled as “overall 
annual return to creditors as a proportion of the total debt claimed”. 
  
 
  

 AiB Trustee 
Private Sector 

Trustee 

Cases concluded 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 

By permanent trustee discharge 1,978 1,601 1,645 1,207 

of which:     

With dividend payable to preferred 
or ordinary creditor 

793 433 268 352 

No dividend to any class of 
creditor 

1,185 1,168 1,377 855 

     Overall annual return to creditors 
as a proportion of the total debt 
claimed (pence in the £) 

21.3 23.8 17.8 5.2 

Mean of dividends for all cases 
(including those with zero 
dividends, pence in the £) 

15.3 12.9 4.9 9.4 
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Contracted out insolvency services 
 
The Insolvency Services Framework allows The Accountant in Bankruptcy to use 
external providers to administer bankruptcy cases on its behalf, where The 
Accountant has been appointed trustee. 
 
Table 12 shows that 1,680 cases were contracted out and 1,640 contracted out 
cases were discharged in 2019-20. Of these discharged cases, 700 (42.7%) were 
cases with assets realised. 
 
Table 12: Contracted out cases, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 

Total cases allocated 1,770 1,680 

Total cases discharged 2,060 1,640 

Total cases with assets realised 1,133 700 

% of cases with assets realised 55.0% 42.7% 

 
 
Further information on these cases including the value of the assets realised and the 
expenses on realisation are shown in tables 13 and 14. Note, these figures are 
rounded to the nearest thousand pound, and totals may not equal the sum of the 
constituent parts due to rounding.  
 
The total value of assets realised was around £19.6 million. Heritable assets, which 
are properties in the form of land, houses, and buildings that become heritable by 
accession, made up around 76.2% of the value of all assets realised. Ingathered 
contributions and funds each made up 22.6% of the value of all assets realised. 
 
The total expenses of realisation was around £6.2 million, the majority of which was 
made up of expenses on secured assets. 
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Table 13: Breakdown of assets realised in discharged contracted out cases, 
2019-20 
 

Asset type £’000 

Total heritage 14,954 

Total moveable 248 

Total ingathered funds 3,173 

Total ingathered contributions 1,259 

Total value of assets realised 19,634 

 
 
 
Table 14: Breakdown of expenses of realisation on discharged contracted out 
cases, 2019-20 
 
 

Expense type £’000 

Total heritage 1,206 

Total secured 4,984 

Total moveable 16 

Total miscellaneous 21 

Total expenses 6,227 
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Personal insolvency: protected trust deeds  
 
A protected trust deed is a formal debt solution where an agreement is made 
between a debtor and creditors to repay part or all of their debt. The debtor conveys 
their estate to an insolvency practitioner (the trustee) to administer for the benefit of 
creditors and the arrangement normally includes a contribution from income for a set 
period. 
 
Protected trust deeds registered 
 
There were 8,743 protected trust deeds registered in 2019-20, a 10.5% increase on 
the previous year. Protected trust deeds have followed a similar trend to 
bankruptcies (see table 15), with a large decline since 2011-12 when 9,194 were 
registered. In each financial year since 2015-16, more protected trust deeds have 
been registered than awards of bankruptcy. 
 
 
Table 15: Protected trust deeds registered, 2015-16 to 2019-20 
 
 

 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 

Protected trust deeds 
registered 

4,709 5,470 5,958 7,915 8,743 

 
 
Protected trust deeds registered by local authority in 2019-20 
 
The rate of protected trust deeds per 10,000 adults in Scotland increased to 19.2 in 
2019-20 from 17.5 in the previous financial year. 
 
East Ayrshire was the local authority with the highest rate of protected trust deeds 
per 10,000 adult population, followed by North Lanarkshire and West Lothian (table 
16 and map 2). 
 
Orkney Islands, East Renfrewshire, and Na h-Eileanan Siar were the local 
authorities with the lowest rate of protected trust deeds per 10,000 adults. 
 
Protected trust deeds (and for other statutory debt solutions) by local authority and 
for previous years are available. 
  
 
 
  



 

 
 

 
 

 

ACCOUNTANT IN BANKRUPTCY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019-20 PAGE 104 OF 125 

 

 
Table 16: PTDs registered per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local authority, 
Scotland, 2019-20 
 

Local authority PTDs registered PTDs registered per 10,000 
adult population (aged 16+) 

East Ayrshire 292 28.9 

North Lanarkshire 697 25.0 

West Lothian 366 24.8 

Midlothian 183 24.6 

Renfrewshire 360 24.2 

West Dunbartonshire 177 24.2 

Dundee City 294 23.5 

North Ayrshire 259 23.1 

Falkirk 303 22.8 

Clackmannanshire 97 22.8 

South Lanarkshire 584 22.0 

Moray 174 21.8 

Inverclyde 138 21.2 

Fife 650 21.0 

Aberdeen City 392 20.3 

Glasgow City 1,036 19.5 

East Lothian 168 19.2 

South Ayrshire 177 18.6 

Aberdeenshire 370 17.4 

Angus 168 17.3 

Scottish Borders 167 17.3 

Dumfries and Galloway 211 16.8 

Perth and Kinross 212 16.6 

Highland 317 16.1 

Shetland Islands 30 16.0 

Argyll and Bute 106 14.5 

Stirling 105 13.3 

City of Edinburgh 515 11.6 

East Dunbartonshire 95 10.6 

Na h-Eileanan Siar 23 10.2 

East Renfrewshire 64 8.4 

Orkney Islands 12 6.4 
   

Unknown postcode 1 - 

Scotland 8,743 19.2 
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Map 2: PTDs registered per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local authority, 
Scotland, 2019-20 
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Protected trust deeds concluded 
 
When the administration of the trust deed is complete, the trustee must apply to 
creditors to be discharged. 
 
In 2019-20, 4,756 protected trust deeds were concluded compared with 7,849 
concluded in 2018-19 (see table 17). 
 
Table 17: Protected trust deeds concluded, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 
 

  2018-19 2019-20 

Protected trust deeds concluded 7,849 4,744 

 
 

 
Table 18 shows the performance of protected trust deeds in relation to cases that 
have been concluded during 2018-19 and the comparative performance in the 
previous year. 
 
In 2019-20, a dividend was paid to creditors in 70.3% of cases concluded in year, a 
decrease on the proportion in the previous year (75.5%). Excluding failed protected 
trust deeds (where the debtor is not discharged), a dividend was paid in 92.7% of 
cases concluded – for which dividend information is available – in 2019-20 
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Table 18: Protected trust deeds registered and concluded, 2018-19 and 2019-
201 

 

 

 2018-19 2019-20 

Number of PTDs recorded in the Register of Insolvencies 
up to preceding 31 March 

25,964 26,030 

PTDs registered during the year 7,915 8,743 

Less concluded   

PTD where no dividend payable to ordinary creditors (1,812) (1,339) 

PTDs where dividend payable to ordinary creditors (5,927) (3,334) 

Balancing item for total concluded2 (110) (71) 

Total concluded (7,849) (4,744) 

PTDs remaining open at end of year (31 March) 26,030 30,029 

 
1 Dividend information shown for PTD cases based on cases where Form 7 and Form 11 available and does not 
include cases where the trustee was reappointed. See table 17 for number of PTDs concluded. 
 

2 Protected trust deeds concluded is based on live information available at the time of compiling the annual 
report. PTD dividend information is based on available Form 7 and Form 11 information. The balancing item here 
reflects the difference in PTDs concluded using the latest information available and the PTDs for which we have 
dividend information from Form 7/Form 11 returns. See table 17 for number of PTDs concluded using the latest 
available information. 

 

 
Table 19 shows the distribution of funds collated and allocated at the discharge of 
the trustee in 2018-19 and 2019-20 for cases concluded where a dividend was 
payable. In 2019-20, almost £36.2 million was ingathered, a 45.9% decrease on the 
total receipts in 2018-19. Overall, 37.0% of total receipts was payable to creditors 
through a dividend compared with 35.9% in 2018-19, meaning a majority of total 
receipts were allocated to administration expenses. 
 
The average administration cost of a protected trust deed that concluded with a 
dividend payable was £6,840 in 2019-20 compared with £7,242 in 2018-19. 
 
For all protected trust deeds including those with zero dividends the mean dividend 
paid to ordinary creditors during 2019-20 was 14.9 pence in the £ compared with 
15.2 pence in the £ in 2018-19. 
 
The overall annual return to ordinary creditors as a proportion of the total debt 
claimed for the 3,334 protected trust deeds concluded during 2019-20 where there 
was a dividend paid was 17.0 pence in the £ compared with 16.4 pence in the £ in 
2018-19. 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 
 

 

ACCOUNTANT IN BANKRUPTCY ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2019-20 PAGE 108 OF 125 

 

Please note that, in the previous annual reports, figures for “average dividend paid to 
creditors” are misleading as the table for such figures should be labelled as “overall 
annual return to ordinary creditors as a proportion of the total debt claimed”. 
 
 
Table 19: Protected trust deeds concluded where a dividend is payable to 
ordinary creditors, 2018-19 and 2019-201,2 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 

Cases concluded where dividend is payable 5,927 3,334 

Total receipts (£’000) 
of which: 
Administration expenses (£’000) 

66,926 
 

42,922 

36,185 
 

22,804 

Payable to creditors (£’000) 
of which: 
Secured/preferred creditors (£’000) 

24,004 
 

2 

13,381 
 

0 

Ordinary creditors (£’000) 24,002 13,381 

 
1 Dividend information shown for PTD cases based on cases where Form 7 and Form 11 available 
and does not include cases where the trustee was reappointed. See table 17 for number of PTDs 
concluded. 
2 Totals may not equal the sum of the constituent parts due to rounding. 
 

 
 
Table 20 shows the distribution of funds collated and allocated at the discharge of 
the trustee of a protected trust deed where no dividend was payable to ordinary 
creditors. In 2019-20, almost £3.3 million was ingathered for these type of cases 
compared with £5.0 million in 2018-19. 
 
The average administration cost of a protected trust deed that concluded with no 
dividend payable was £2,435 in 2019-20 compared with £2,748 in 2018-19. 
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Table 20: Protected trust deeds concluded where no dividend payable to 
ordinary creditors, 2018-19 and 2019-201,2 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 

Cases concluded where no dividend is payable to 
ordinary creditors  

1,812 1,339 

Total receipts (£’000) 4,983 3,269 

of which:   

Administration expenses (£’000) 4,980 3,260 

Payable to creditors (£’000) 3 8 

of which:   

Secured/preferred creditors (£’000) 3 8 

Ordinary creditors (£’000) 0 0 

 
1 Dividend information shown for PTD cases based on cases where Form 7 and Form 11 available 
and does not include cases where the trustee was reappointed. See table 17 for number of PTDs 
concluded. 
2 Totals may not equal the sum of the constituent parts due to rounding. 

  
 
 
Table 21 below shows details of the 3,335 cases (including one case where only 
secured or preferred creditors were repaid) wound up and the division of funds 
following a trustee’s discharge during 2019-20. 
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Table 21: Protected trust deeds conclusion by division of funds following the 
trustee's discharge during, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 
 

Dividend payable to 2018-19 2019-20 

Secured/preferred creditors only 1 1 

Ordinary creditors:   

    Less than 25p per £ 4,458 2,505 

    Between 25p and 50p per £ 949 519 

    Between 50p and 75p per £ 235 127 

    Between 75p and 99p per £ 103 53 

    100p per £ plus interest 182 130 

Sub Total 5,927 3,334 

Total 5,928 3,335 

 
 
Table 21 shows that 75.1% of cases where ordinary creditor dividends are paid were 
paid at less than 25 pence in the pound, which is less than 75.2% in 2018-19. The 
table also shows that 3.9% were paid at 100 pence in the pound plus interest, which 
is more than the 3.1% in 2018-19. 
 
 
Protected trust deed Form 7 and Form 11 performance: Summary by company, 
2019-20 
 
The Form 7 and Form 11 returns detail the trustee’s actual statement of realisation 
and distribution of estate under a protected trust deed. The following tables 
summarise the performance based on this information from the Form 7 returns. 
 
The percentage of cases where administration costs have increased by 25% or more 
includes protected trust deeds where there has been increased complexity or a lack 
of co-operation from the debtor, requiring the trustee to commit more time to the 
administration of these cases. 
 
The Form 7 table includes information on the number of trust deeds where a 
dividend was not paid to creditors. A proportion of these cases failed, so the debtor 
was not discharged from liability to pay the debts included in the protected trust 
deed. 
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Table 22A: Protected trust deed Form 7 performance – summary by trustee 
organisation 2019-20 
 
The table below shows the performance of trustees in cases where the trust deed 
was protected from 1 April 2008 onwards, and was concluded during 2019-20. 
 

Trustee 
Organisation1 

Number 
of PTDs 

Estimated 
average 
dividend 
(Form 3)2 

(p in the £) 

Actual 
average 

dividend paid 
(Form 7)3 

(p in the £) 

Average 
dividend 
variance 
between 

Form 3 and 
Form 7 

Number of 
cases 

where zero 
dividend 

paid 

% of cases 
where zero 

dividend 
paid 

Admin. 
costs 

increased 
by 25% or 

more4 

Failed 
PTDs5 

Carrington Dean 2,127 16.0 17.8 11% 365 17% 33% 13% 

Campbell 
Wallace Fraser 

575 14.0 20.2 44% 413 72% 41% 74% 

Pinnacle 
Insolvency6 

460 15.1 21.0 39% 52 11% 33% 15% 

KPMG 359 16.7 27.8 67% 139 39% 35% 20% 

Wilson Andrews 252 14.7 28.4 93% 47 19% 28% 37% 

Wylie & Bisset 165 15.8 30.0 90% 53 32% 17% 29% 

Begbies Traynor 142 16.8 20.6 23% 71 50% 49% 13% 

Payplan Scotland 127 19.2 23.0 20% 12 9% 19% 8% 

Apex Debt 
Solutions 

67 14.3 14.0 -2% 28 42% 95% 6% 

MoneyPlus 
Insolvency 

67 11.4 20.2 76% 30 45% 11% 48% 

Campbell Dallas 47 17.9 43.4 142% 11 23% 14% 15% 

Harper 
McDermott 

43 - - - 43 100% - 100% 

Grant Thornton 36 19.8 40.8 106% 21 58% 40% 44% 

 
 
1 Includes trustee organisations with a minimum number of 25 PTDs only (96.4% of PTDs in Form 7 returns 
where trustee discharged in 2019-20). 
2 Estimated average dividend to ordinary creditor from Form 3. Based on the mean of expected dividend. 
3 Actual average dividend paid from Form 7. Based on the mean of actual dividend. 
4  Percentage of cases with a dividend paid to ordinary creditors. 
5 In this annual report, the current definition of a failed PTD is a PTD concluded in 2019-20 that the trustee is 
discharged, but not the debtor. It should be noted that this definition is not the only definition, for example a failed 
PTD may refer to those that no dividend was paid to creditors. Future work would involve exploring different 
definitions of failed PTDs. 
6 From 4 June 2019 (after the reporting period for this report) protected trust deeds previously administered by 
Pinnacle Insolvency are now being administered by Carrington Dean 
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Table 22B: Protected trust deed Form 11 performance – summary by trustee 
organisation 2019-20 
 
The table below shows the performance of one trustee in cases where the trust deed 
was protected prior to 1 April 2008, and was concluded during 2019-20. 
 
 
Trustee Organisation Number of PTDs Actual average dividend 

paid (Form 11)2 
(p in the £) 

Number of cases 
where zero dividend 

paid 

% of cases where zero 
dividend 

paid 

ClearDebt 26 18.2 5 19% 

 
1 Includes trustee organisations with a minimum number of 25 PTDs only (66.7% of PTDs in Form 11 returns 
where trustee discharged in 2019-20). 
2 Actual average dividend paid from Form 7. Based on the mean of actual dividend. 

 
 
Balance of funds consigned 
 
Balance of funds consigned Consignations are unallocated funds at the end of a 
bankruptcy or a trust deed. These can be in the form of dividends that the trustee 
has been unable to pay to a creditor, funds that are due to be reverted to the debtor 
but the trustee has been unable to pay or in some trust deeds or bankruptcies there 
may have been such a small amount of funds ingathered that it is uneconomical to 
pay a dividend. These monies are consigned as an unapplied balance. The Agency 
continues to attempt to reduce the flow of consignations reaching AiB. In 2019-20, 
£1.5 million was received compared with £1.6 million in 2018-19. Overall in 2019-20, 
consignation balances decreased by 8%.  
 
Table 23 shows the total balance of funds held at the end of the reporting period 
from 2015-16 
 
Table 23: Balance of consignations, 2015-16 to 2019-20 
  

 
2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 

 
2018-19 2019-20 

Balance of consignations  
(£ million) 19.7 19.1 16.7 

 
14.6 12.1 

 
 
 

Corporate insolvency: Liquidations and receiverships 
 
AiB is responsible for devolved elements of corporate insolvency, including: 
development of policy on liquidation and receivership, and the management and 
maintenance of the Register of Insolvencies. 
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The Register of Insolvencies contains details of liquidation and receivership of 
Scottish businesses which are wound up by either a Sheriff Court or the Court of 
Session. AiB is required to be notified of all company liquidations and receiverships 
in Scotland. 
 
Reserved elements remain the responsibility of the UK Government and are dealt 
with by The Insolvency Service, an executive agency sponsored by the Department 
for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy. Reserved elements include: company 
voluntary arrangements, administration, legal effects of liquidation and regulation of 
insolvency practitioners. Statistics on these reserved elements are available from 
The Insolvency Service.  
 
It is important to note that the statistics for corporate insolvencies and members’ 
voluntary liquidations presented below are based on the date either process was 
registered on AiB's administrative system. As a consequence. there is a time lag 
between the dates when a corporate insolvency is awarded or a member voluntary 
liquidation is registered and when AiB receives notice. 
 
Therefore, corporate insolvency statistics presented here may differ from equivalent 
statistics published by The Insolvency Service, who source their data from 
Companies House. Similarly, members’ voluntary liquidations presented here may 
differ from equivalent statistics published by Companies House.  
 
With this caveat in mind, there were 947 corporate insolvencies in 2019-20, 20 less 
than in 2018-19 (see table 24). Corporate insolvencies include receiverships 
appointments, compulsory liquidations and creditors’ voluntary liquidations. 
 
Table 24: Corporate insolvencies by type, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 
 

 
Corporate insolvencies 

 
2018-19 

 
2019-20 

Receiverships 3 0 

Compulsory liquidations 601 618 

Creditors' voluntary liquidations 363 329 

Total corporate insolvencies 967 947 

 
 
In 2019-20, AiB also recorded 705 members’ voluntary liquidations compared with 
507 in 2018-19. Members’ voluntary liquidations are not a form of insolvency. 
 
AiB does not publish statistics on the number of company voluntary arrangements or 
administrations, which are a reserved matter for the UK Government. These 
statistics are available from The Insolvency Service. 
  

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/company-insolvency-statistics-january-to-march-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/company-insolvency-statistics-january-to-march-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/companies-register-activities-statistical-release-2019-to-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/insolvency-statistics
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Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) 
 
The Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) is a statutory debt management solution 
administered by AiB. Under DAS, a debtor commits to a debt payment programme 
which allows them to repay their debts based on their disposable income while they 
are protected from creditors taking any action against them to recover their debt. 
 
Approved Debt Arrangement Scheme debt payment programmes 
 
In 2019-20, there were 3,130 approved debt payment programmes under DAS 
compared with 2,544 approved in 2018-19, a 23% increase (see table 25). 
 
A debt payment programme reaches completion when the debt in the programme 
has been paid in full, minus the fees paid to the DAS Administrator and the 
payments distributer. There were 1,622 completed DAS debt payment programmes 
in 2019-20 a 3.9% decrease when compared with 1,687 in 2018-19. 
 
Table 25 also shows that debt included in live debt payment programmes has 
increased from £268.1 million to £297.1 million by 31 March 2020. In 2019-20, 
around £38.0 million was repaid through DAS, a 2.6% increase when compared with 
£37.0 million repaid in 2018-19. Since the DAS (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 
2018 came into force on 4 November 2019, through DAS, creditors receive a 
minimum of 78% of the debt owed to them from debtors (after DAS Administrator 
and payment distributor fees). Prior to this, the minimum was set at 90%. 
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Table 25: Debt Arrangement Scheme, 2018-19 and 2019-20 
 

 2018-19 2019-20 

DPP applications received 2,636 3,495 

DPPs rejected 88 67 

DPPs awaiting decision 172 254 

DPPs approved 2,544 3,130 

Of which:   

Joint DPPs approved 348 356 

Single-debt DPPs approved 50 49 

Completed DPPs 1,687 1,622 

Revoked DPPs 1,125 766 

Live DPPs at end of reporting period 12,171 12,913 

Total value of debts included in DPPs (£million) 268.1 297.1 

Total repaid through DAS (£million) 37.0 38.0 

 
 
 
Debt payment programmes by local authority in 2019-20 
 
The rate of DAS debt payment programmes per 10,000 adult population in Scotland 
was 6.9 in 2019-20 compared with 5.6 in 2018-19. 
 
Moray was the local authority with the highest rate of DAS per 10,000 adults with the 
lowest in Clackmannanshire (see table 26 and map 3). 
 
Approved debt payment programmes under the DAS (and for other statutory debt 
solutions) by local authority and for previous years are available. 
  
 
 
  

https://www.aib.gov.uk/about-aib/statistics-data/debt-solutions-local-authority
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Table 26: DAS DPPs approved per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local 
authority, Scotland, 2019-20 
 

Local authority DAS DPPs approved  
 

DAS DPPs approved per 10,000 
adult population (aged 16+)  

 
Moray 110 13.8 

North Lanarkshire 318 11.4 

Inverclyde 67 10.3 

South Lanarkshire 271 10.2 

Renfrewshire 127 8.5 

Fife 259 8.4 

Falkirk 108 8.1 

Dumfries and Galloway 98 7.8 

North Ayrshire 86 7.7 

Midlothian 57 7.7 

West Dunbartonshire 56 7.6 

Perth and Kinross 91 7.1 

West Lothian 103 7.0 

Highland 131 6.7 

East Ayrshire 67 6.6 

Angus 64 6.6 

Na h-Eileanan Siar 14 6.2 

Argyll and Bute 45 6.2 

East Renfrewshire 46 6.1 

South Ayrshire 57 6.0 

Aberdeenshire 126 5.9 

East Lothian 51 5.8 

Aberdeen City 104 5.4 

Glasgow City 286 5.4 

Shetland Islands 10 5.3 

Stirling 41 5.2 

Scottish Borders 46 4.8 

Dundee City 57 4.5 

East Dunbartonshire 39 4.4 

Orkney Islands 8 4.3 

City of Edinburgh 171 3.8 

Clackmannanshire 16 3.8 

Unknown postcode 0 - 

Scotland 3,127 6.9 
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Map 3: DAS DPPs approved per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local 
authority, Scotland, 2019-20 
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DAS debt payment programmes by year of approval and outcome status 
 
Since DAS was introduced, just over 33,500 DAS debt payment programmes have 
been approved according to the official headline statistics. Looking at each DAS 
case it can be said whether they completed, were revoked or remain live (ongoing). 
 
Table 27 below shows the outcome status for DAS cases by financial year of the 
approval date as at 31 March 2020. It should be noted that around 39.1% of DAS 
cases are still ongoing (usually a completed DAS lasts for around five years) these 
findings should be interpreted with caution. 
 
Note that figures presented in Table 27 are not consistent with the official, headline 
statistics. This is because these figures are based on data extracted from the live 
DAS database at a different point in time. Furthermore, all debt payment 
programmes approved in earlier years are mainly affected by missing information 
due to Accountant in Bankruptcy’s data retention and destruction policy, for example 
all information for revoked cases must be removed from the system two years after 
the date of revocation, and all information for completed cases must be removed 
three years after the date of completion. 
 
Table 27: DAS by financial year of the approval date and outcome status as at 
31 March 2020: Scotland, 2005-06 to 2019-20 
 
  Completed  Live  Revoked  Total 

Year 
Number 
of cases 

% of  
total  

Number 
of cases 

% of  
total  

Number 
of cases 

% of  
total  

Number 
of 

cases 

                      

2005-06 10 71.4%   0 0.0%   4 28.6%   14 

2006-07 31 83.8%   1 2.7%   5 13.5%   37 

2007-08 164 60.1%   36 13.2%   73 26.7%   273 

2008-09 397 61.1%   82 12.6%   171 26.3%   650 

2009-10 668 56.9%   184 15.7%   322 27.4%   1,174 

2010-11 831 46.2%   382 21.2%   587 32.6%   1,800 

2011-12 1,498 45.1%   578 17.4%   1,245 37.5%   3,321 

2012-13 1,892 41.1%   761 16.5%   1,949 42.4%   4,602 

2013-14 1,698 37.1%   982 21.4%   1,901 41.5%   4,581 

2014-15 1,259 30.3%   1,146 27.6%   1,754 42.2%   4,159 

2015-16 424 20.8%   838 41.0%   780 38.2%   2,042 

2016-17 305 13.7%   1,240 55.6%   686 30.7%   2,231 

2017-18 184 8.0%   1,501 64.9%   629 27.2%   2,314 

2018-19 57 2.2%   2,095 82.4%   391 15.4%   2,543 

2019-20 7 0.2%   3,035 97.0%   88 2.8%   3,130 

                      

All 
years 9,425 28.7%   12,861 39.1%   10,585 32.2%   32,871 

                      

               
1 Figures presented here are not consistent with the official, headline quarterly statistics. This is because the DAS 
outcome figures have been compiled at a different point in time using a bespoke data extract from a live 
database.  
2 Excludes small number of cases that were withdrawn or rejected.         
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Chart 1 below shows how the proportion of live DAS increases for more recent years 
as well as the overall consistency with the official, headline statistics. Recall that 
earlier years of DAS more affected by missing information, but overwhelming 
majority of approved DAS cases presented in this analysis. 
 
 
Chart 1: DAS by year approved and outcome status as at 31 March 2020: 
Scotland, 2005-06 to 2019-20 
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Table 28 below shows the length of survival of approved DAS cases by financial 
year of the approval date since 2014-15. The five-year survival rate for all DAS 
cases approved in 2014-15 which either remained live or became completed 
successfully in 2019-20 was around 58%.  
 
 
Table 28: Survival of Approved Debt Payment Programmes under DAS by 
financial year of the approval date: Scotland, since 2014-151,2   
 
              

Length of survival 2014-153 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 

            
Official Statistics: 
Approved DDPs 4,156 2,043 2,233 2,318 2,544 
            
Approved 4,159 2,042 2,231 2,314 2,543 
1-year 3,478 1,715 1,937 1,936 2,230 
2-year 2,964 1,482 1,696 1,733 - 
3-year 2,663 1,342 1,568 - - 
4-year 2,517 1,278 - - - 
5-year 2,425 - - - - 
            
1-year survival rate 84% 84% 87% 84% 88% 
2-year survival rate 71% 73% 76% 75% - 
3-year survival rate 64% 66% 70% - - 
4-year survival rate 61% 63% - - - 
5-year survival rate 58% - - - - 
            

            
1 Figures presented here are not consistent with the official, headline statistics. This is because these 
DAS outcome figures are based on data extracted from the live DAS database at a different point in 
time. DAS cases approved in earlier years are mainly affected by missing information due to Accountant 
in Bankruptcy's data retention policy, but the overwhelming majority of approved DAS cases are 
presented in this analysis. 

2 Excluded two completed DPP with unknown approval date.     

3 Excluded two revoked DPP with known approval date (within 2014-15) and unknown revocation date. 
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Chart 2 below shows the percentage of DAS approved resulting in revocation within 
one to three years of being approved. Prior to 2012-13, there were 634 cases 
revoked cases with known approval date in between 2005-06 and 2014-15, and 
unknown revocation date. Therefore, for those cases, the duration between the 
approval date and revocation date is unknown, and so are not included in Chart 2,  
 
In 2019-20 the one-year DAS revocation rate fell below the overall average (2.8% in 
2019-20 compared with overall average of 11.4%).  
 
However, it is important to note that this one-year DAS revocation rate (fixed as at 31 
March 2020) may increase in the next financial year because cases approved in late 
2019-20 may result in revocation in early 2020-21 and statistics on 2020-21 are not 
included in this annual report. For example, in the previous annual report, the one-
year DAS revocation rate was 3.8% as at 31 March 2019. This has been revised 
upwards as 12.3%. 
 
 
Chart 2: Percentage of DAS approved resulting in revocation by year approved 
and time elapsed between approval and revocation as at 31 March 2020: 
Scotland, 2011-12 to 2019-20 
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Bankruptcy and Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) reviews 
 
Period: 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 - Bankruptcy Reviews 
 

 Decision reviewed 

Period Total 

completed 

Adjudication DCO Debtor 

Discharge 

Trustee 

Discharge 

Rejection DCO 

Variation 

S  212 Recall 

2017/2018 46 5 15 22 2 0 1 0 1 

2018/2019 78 16 9 37 1 5 8 2 0 

2019/2020 77 15 6 32 1 2 21 0 0 

 

 Decision 

Period Total 

completed 

Confirm Revoke Amend 

2017/2018 46 37 9 0 

2018/2019 78 62 16 0 

2019/2020 77 55 12 10 

 

Bankruptcy review numbers in most categories remained static in this financial year 
compared to last year. Adjudication reviews are requested where a debtor or creditor 
doesn’t agree with the trustees decision to either accept or reject a claim in the 
sequestration. There were a similar number of adjudication reviews this year as there 
were last year.  
 
A review of the debtor contribution order (DCO) can be requested when the DCO is 
originally set. A review can also be requested following a variation to the DCO. This 
usually happens following a change in the debtors circumstances. There has been a 
large increase in the number of review requests relating to a variation of the DCO this 
year. There is nothing to suggest why this type of request has increased by such a 
margin this year. 
 
There were no requests under section 212 this year. Section 212 of The Bankruptcy 
(Scotland) act 2016 is used to cure a defect in the procedure. This section would 
normally be used by a trustee when they have failed to meet the statutory deadline to 
set the DCO. This could be for a number of reasons such as non-cooperation or the 
debtor taking some time to provide the required evidence. 
 
DAS reviews 

 

DAS Reviews Decision reviewed Decision 

Period Total 

completed 

Fair & 

Reasonable 

Rejection Revocation Variation Confirm Revoke 

2017/2018 109 23 10 68 8 85 24 

2018/2019 98 19 4 68 7 71 27 

2019/2020 74 14 5 52 3 53 21 

 
DAS review requests continued to fall in this financial year. Review requests under fair 
and reasonable and revocation were both less than last year. The number of requests 
to review the DAS administrators decision to reject an application remained similar to 
last year. 
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How to contact us 
 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
1 Pennyburn Road 
Kilwinning 
KA13 6SA 
 
 
DX 552090 KILWINNING 2 
 
Telephone 0300 200 2600 
Fax  0300 200 2601 
 
Website: www.aib.gov.uk for advice on the administration of the sequestration 
process in Scotland 
 
 
 

 
 

http://www.aib.gov.uk/


 

 
 

 

 

  



 

 

 


